



Policies and Governance in Europe

Chair: Policy Evaluation and Implementation

NDICI-Global Europe: A Game Changer for EU Development Policy Effectiveness?

An Evaluation of its Potential Impact focusing on the Southern Neighbourhood

Prof. Mohammed Hashas		Prof. Maria Elena Cavallaro
RELATORE		CORRELATORE
	Maria Teresa Ricifari (652512)	
	CANDIDATO	

Anno Accademico 2023/2024

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Introduction	4
Section I - Literature Review	7
Section II - Argument & Methodology	13
Argument	13
Methodology	15
Section III: Tracing EU development policies towards the Southern Neighbourhood	18
EU-Egypt relations	20
EU-Jordan relations	23
Section IV - NDICI-Global Europe: Coordination and Coherence Issues	26
Coordination	26
Coherence	30
Section V - NDICI-Global Europe: Implementation Issues in the Southern Neighbourhood	33
Conclusion	39
Bibliography	42
Appendix I	53
Interview 1: DG NEAR official from Egypt's desk	53
Interview 2: DG NEAR official from the Good Governance and Security Team for the Sout	
Neighbourhood	
Interview 3: Official from the EU delegation to Cairo	
Interview 4: DG NEAR official from Jordan's desk	56

Abstract

This dissertation investigates the potential of the Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument – Global Europe (NDICI-Global Europe) to improve the effectiveness of EU development policies. The analysis builds on the extensive literature exploring the major debate on the efficacy gap affecting EU development policies, identifying the lack of internal coordination from the EU side and implementation hurdles in third countries as the main reasons behind the limited effectiveness of EU actions, specifically towards the Southern Neighbourhood. This research aims to assess to what extent NDICI-Global Europe's design and mechanisms contribute to bridging the gap between outlined objectives and concrete outcomes. To this end, this contribution combines quantitative analyses of policy documents, budget allocations, and official reports with qualitative insights from semi-structured interviews with EU policymakers from DG NEAR and the EU delegations. Highlighting the pivotal role of local factors in shaping the outcome of development policies, this analysis concludes that NDICI's novelties contribute to bridging the efficacy gap in terms of increasing internal coordination and policy coherence. However, it underscores the instrument's limitations in addressing country-specific implementation obstacles, which are only partially met thanks to the increased flexibility and adaptability provided by NDICI's architecture. However, as the rationale behind EU policies remains largely unchanged, so do the effectiveness levels.

Keywords: NDICI-Global Europe, EU development policies, efficacy gap, Southern Neighbourhood

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Mohammed Hashas, and my co-supervisor, Professor Maria Elena Cavallaro, for their guidance and support throughout this dissertation. Your expertise and encouragement have been crucial to my progress.

I would also like to extend my heartfelt thanks to LUISS University for the exceptional quality of teaching and the invaluable knowledge I have acquired throughout my studies. I am especially grateful for the opportunity to participate in the double degree program, which allowed me to enrich my academic experience by spending a year at King's College London, where I further developed my skills and broadened my perspectives.

Un grazie di cuore a Elena Tosti di Stefano, che mi ha accompagnata con una dedizione straordinaria, offrendomi preziosi consigli e guidandomi con grande cura in ogni fase di questo cammino.

Alla mia famiglia, per il loro amore e sostegno incondizionato, ai miei amici, che hanno colorato questo percorso con la loro presenza, alle persone giuste al momento giusto,

Grazie.

Introduction

The European Union's engagement with developing countries traces its origins to the Treaty of Rome in 1957, forming the bedrock of its external relations framework (Carbone, 2008; Hurt, 2010). Historically, EU actions have revolved around three main pillars: the provision of development aid, primarily aimed at fostering democracy and alleviating poverty; political dialogue; and bilateral trade agreements (Burni et al., 2021). Nevertheless, EU development policy has undergone a significant evolution, notably since 2005, when the adoption of the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness—and later in 2015, of the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development—fundamentally reshaped its priorities. These frameworks significantly reoriented EU development policies to improve effectiveness by promoting ownership, alignment, harmonisation, and mutual accountability principles. The Paris Declaration encouraged the EU to support local development strategies rather than imposing externally crafted solutions, enhance coordination with other donors, and focus on tangible results and transparency in development aid (OECD, 2005). Additionally, introducing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) broadened the scope of EU policies to include economic, social, and environmental challenges, pushing for an integrated approach to development (United Nations, 2015).

With a collective Official Development Assistance (ODA) totalling EUR 70.2 billion in 2021 (CoEU, 2022), the EU stands as the preeminent global ODA provider. Nevertheless, despite the reforms undertaken since its inception, EU development policy grapples with notable efficiency challenges, as reflected in the persistent discrepancies between stated objectives and tangible outcomes (Carbone, 2013; Carbone & Keijzer, 2016). Several factors contribute to this efficacy gap. On the EU's part, multi-governance complications—including deficient interinstitutional coordination, disjointed actions, potential incongruences between Union policies and Member States' agendas, limited financial capacity relative to the ambit of objectives, and a lack of coherence between rhetoric and practice—are pivotal (Nilsson et al., 2012; Pace, 2009). Simultaneously, in partner countries, constraints such as authoritarian governance structures, weak state capacity, low accountability, poor adherence to human rights and the rule of law, and entrenched cultural factors hinder effective implementation (Williams, 2021; Börzel & Risse, 2010).

Criticism about the highly fragmented nature of the EU's approach to international development, which often results in overlapping initiatives and inefficient use of resources, has grown sharply over the last decades (e.g. Niemann & Bretherton, 2013; Toje, 2008; Thomas, 2012). Hence,

recognising the urgent need for a more coherent and impactful strategy, key EU institutions embarked on comprehensive discussions to identify and implement viable solutions (Bodenstein et al., 2017). Therefore, in alignment with the new strategy for development cooperation inaugurated in 2016—the Global Strategy (EEAS)—the EU established an entirely new regulatory framework for aid provision. The Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument – Global Europe (NDICI-Global Europe) was inaugurated in 2021 to enhance external cooperation across multiple dimensions (Commission, 2021). Endowed with a substantial budget of €79.5 billion, NDICI-Global Europe (NDICI-GE) epitomises a singular opportunity to address entrenched issues within the EU's development policy architecture (Gavas & Pleeck, 2021). Specifically, it consolidates most external financing mechanisms and fosters institutionalised communication to augment funding flexibility, internal coordination, policy coherence, and adaptability. However, given its relatively recent inception, the evaluation of its impact on the effectiveness of EU development policies remains a topic for ongoing debate.

Existing research thoroughly explores previous EU external cooperation instruments' performances (e.g. Balfour & Rotta, 2005; Gavas, 2012), and some scholars have already produced a careful outline of the new instrument' novelties in terms of financing and budget allocation (Sergejeff et al., 2022). More specifically, Brie (2020) has done so concerning the Neighbourhood and Sabourin et al. (2023) have explored the impact of this new strategy on the African continent. However, an analysis of NDICI's prospective impact on policy effectiveness within the Southern Neighbourhood remains absent despite the region's strategic significance to the Union (Rizzi & Varvelli, 2022)¹. This dissertation endeavours to partially bridge this lacuna by providing a preliminary evaluation of the instrument's capacity to enhance development within the region. Addressing the research question: "To what extent can NDICI-Global Europe contribute to bridging the efficacy gap in EU development policies, specifically towards the Southern Neighbourhood?" this study will scrutinise key priorities and funding allocations directed at the region, alongside the instrument's design and implementation mechanisms. Crucially, this research will encompass both the coordination and coherence challenges on the EU's side and the often-overlooked influence of local conditions on the efficacy of external initiatives. This methodological approach constitutes a primary innovation of this study, particularly salient in the context of the Southern Neighbourhood a region characterised by a complex interplay of political, economic, and social dynamics that can impede the successful implementation of development initiatives.

¹ The Southern Neighbourhood encompasses Algeria, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Palestine, Syria, and Tunisia. Under the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), the EU seeks to strengthen relations with its neighbouring countries to the East and South, fostering stability, security, and prosperity.

However, recognising that a full evaluation of the instrument's impact will only be feasible in the forthcoming years, the scope of this research is limited to providing initial insights, setting the stage for ongoing refinement and adjustment of development strategies based on emerging findings and evolving regional dynamics.

To this end, the dissertation is structured into six sections. The first section synthesises the prevailing literature concerning the efficacy gap inherent in the EU's development policies. This section will encompass key debates, including the politicisation of the Union's foreign policies, the ramifications of escalating securitisation and instrumentalisation on the efficacy of its actions, the rhetoric-practice gap, the capability-expectations gap as dimensions of the efficacy issue, coordination and coherence challenges, and the role of local factors. The second section delineates the theoretical framework and methodology employed for the analysis, while section three briefly traces the evolution of EU engagements with the region, focusing on Egypt and Jordan. This framework is then applied in the ensuing sections. Section four addresses the longstanding coordination and coherence issues, evaluating how NDICI's novel architecture may contribute to ameliorating these challenges. Policy papers and official reports inform this segment of the analysis. Section five focuses on the partner countries, drawing insights from semi-structured interviews with EU stakeholders engaged in Egypt and Jordan dossiers. This section elucidates the implementation challenges characterising these nations and assesses NDICI's potential to adapt to and surmount these obstacles. Finally, the concluding section will summarise the findings, highlighting persisting criticalities and advocating for more comprehensive assessments of the instrument in due course.

Section I - Literature Review

The evolution of the European Union's development policy has been comprehensively scrutinised, with analyses spanning from its origins in the Treaty of Rome to more contemporary evaluations (e.g., Bergmann et al., 2019; Carbone, 2008; Furness, 2012; Hurt, 2010). However, since the 2000s, scholarly attention has shifted from merely chronicling this evolution to probing three critical dimensions: the politicisation of EU development policy, which exacerbates the solidarity/instrumentality dilemma; the nexus between stability and security; and the efficacy gap that persists between expectations and real outcomes. This reorientation has been catalysed by a series of internal and external disruptions, including the Lisbon Treaty's structural reforms, the 2008 financial crisis, the 2015 refugee crisis, the rise of populist movements, Brexit, the COVID-19 pandemic, and the growing geopolitical influence of the BRICS nations (Furness et al., 2020; Burni et al., 2022; Thier & Alexander, 2019; Price, 2019). Within this discourse, the efficacy gap has emerged as a particularly salient concern, underscored by three pivotal points: (1) The EU's foreign policy trajectory, characterised by an increasing securitisation and instrumentalisation of development policies, has contributed to widening the efficacy gap; (2) A substantial lack of policy coherence and internal coordination among EU institutions, governance levels, and external actors exacerbates this issue; (3) The success of development initiatives is heavily contingent on local factors, which play a crucial role in shaping policy outcomes. This paper applies this analytical framework to assess the potential of the NDICI-Global Europe instrument in bridging the efficacy gap within EU development policies, focusing on its impact in the Southern Neighbourhood.

The new century ushered in significant changes, ranging from institutional restructuring to shifts in policy content and focus, further blurring the boundaries and definition of EU development policy (Fukuda-Parr & McNeill, 2019). This policy has increasingly been perceived as a cornerstone for the EU, encompassing a broad array of fields and addressing both the consequences and root causes of issues such as discrimination, migration, forced displacement, energy transition, international conflict, elite corruption, and human rights abuses (Furness et al., 2020). Studies on the expansion of the EU development policy scope have explored its repercussions, noting the resulting politicisation of this area in alignment with the increasing securitisation of the broader EU foreign policy (Hilpold, 2017; Saviolo, 2023; Carbone, 2013; Chaban & Elgström, 2021; Delkader-Palacios, 2019). Indeed, following the introduction of the "European Consensus on Development", the security dimension has become entrenched with the notion of progress: "Without peace and security,

development and poverty eradication are not possible, and without development and poverty eradication, no sustainable peace will occur" (EUR-lex, 2007). This trend has particularly impacted relations with the Southern Neighbourhood and the MENA region, especially after the 9/11 attacks and the Syrian refugee crisis of 2015 (Baldarin & Wildeman, 2021; Bodenstein & Furness, 2023; Youngs & Zihnioğlu, 2021).

Constructivist studies on the issue (Roccu & Voltolini, 2017; Pace, 2009b) emphasise the pivotal role of identities and perceptions in shaping foreign policy. These scholars assert that the mutual perceptions of cultural, political, and economic identities between the EU and Southern Neighbourhood countries profoundly influence their interactions and diplomatic strategies. This perspective posits that the security-stability nexus in EU-Southern Neighbourhood relations is deeply embedded in regional and interregional dynamics (Silander & Nilsson, 2014; Dandashly, 2020). Similarly, scholars such as Schmidt (2012) and Fioramonti and Poletti (2008) stress the importance of target region perceptions in the successful implementation of policies. They argue that resistance to external policies is not merely a reflexive opposition to foreign intervention but is deeply rooted in specific historical, cultural, and political contexts. The enduring legacy of colonialism in North Africa and parts of the Middle East engenders a pervasive wariness among local governments and populations towards external attempts to influence domestic policies. Consequently, the EU faces ongoing challenges in establishing bilateral ties that transcend traditional, asymmetrical donor-recipient relationships, even as it seeks to evolve through new instruments such as NDICI-Global Europe (Bilal et al., 2021; Keijzer, 2020).

Other scholars have explained the security-stability nexus within the broader debate on the decline of EU normative power and the nature of the EU's international influence. For instance, research by Bicchi (2006) and Pace (2009a) underscores the inherent tension within EU policy, wherein the pursuit of regional stability often conflicts with its professed normative goals, such as democracy promotion and human rights advocacy. These scholars contend that the EU's normative power is compromised whenever it opts for trade-offs under the guise of stabilising the region. This realpolitik approach may achieve short-term stability but at the expense of long-term democratic transitions, exacerbating the gap between the EU's rhetorical commitments and the tangible outcomes of its actions—commonly referred to as the rhetoric-practice gap. Del Sarto (2016) introduces the "Empire Europe" concept to critique the EU's strategy, suggesting that it operates imperialistically, imposing stability through control rather than genuinely fostering development through partnership. This pragmatic shift is perceived as a response to various challenges, including migration crises, terrorism, and regional instability, prompting the EU to prioritise immediate security concerns over

long-term developmental objectives. This approach has been particularly criticised in the context of the Arab Spring, which many viewed as a missed opportunity for significant democratic transformation in the region (Bicchi, 2014; Hollis, 2012; Youngs & Zihnioğlu, 2021; Roccu & Voltolini, 2018). Finally, Damro (2012) posits that the EU increasingly operates as a market power, prioritising economic interests over its core values (Furness et al., 2020; Holden, 2020). This shift, exemplified by the relegation of democracy and human rights objectives to conditionalities attached to trade agreements, exacerbates the instrumentalisation of EU foreign policies at the expense of solidarity, thereby deepening the discrepancies between rhetoric and practice and undermining the coherence of EU actions (Herceg-Kolman & Bandov, 2022).

The persistent gap between the objectives and outcomes of EU external and development policies has been extensively examined in relation to coordination challenges. Researchers such as Furness (2012) have analysed how institutional changes, particularly those introduced by the Lisbon Treaty, have compounded the complexity of managing EU development policy within an increasingly geopolitical European Commission. The Treaty established the European External Action Service (EEAS) and the role of the High Representative, assigning them substantial responsibilities in the programming cycle. While the European Commission retains oversight of external cooperation instruments, the EEAS has been tasked with setting the financial envelopes for each country and region and developing national and regional indicative programs and strategy papers, adding a significant layer of complexity to the governance of EU external actions (Furness, 2012).

Moreover, development policy operates under a shared competence framework, where decision-making occurs at both the European and national levels. This Division of Labour (DoL) complicates policy management and governance and impacts policy coherence (Kugiel, 2020). In this respect, Ashoff (2005) highlights that while the division of labour is intended to streamline processes and enhance efficiency by delineating clear roles, it often results in siloed operations, where inadequate communication between departments and governance levels hampers effective policy implementation. This disjointed approach can produce inconsistent policies that fail to address the complexities of development challenges comprehensively. Carbone and Keijzer (2016) further explore the implications of this division on policy coherence, which they define as the alignment and consistency among EU policies, between EU and national policies, and between EU policies and those of third actors. They argue that effective development policy necessitates not only internal consistency within the EU framework but also alignment with Member States' policies and conformity with international development agendas. The challenge lies in harmonising these diverse interests and strategies, which often have conflicting objectives and timelines. On the same line,

Picciotto (2005) delves into the structural aspects of this issue, suggesting that the EU's policy framework is frequently constrained by its bureaucratic structures, which are not always conducive to flexible or rapid responses to development needs. The multi-level governance structure, while providing multiple checks and balances, sometimes leads to a sluggish response rate, impeding the EU's ability to adapt its policies in response to evolving realities in partner countries.

A final aspect of the coordination-related challenges contributing to the efficacy gap is the mismatch between capabilities and expectations. This gap manifests as the discrepancy between what the EU is expected to achieve in its foreign policy and what it can realistically deliver, given the diverse interests of its Member States, limited budgetary resources, and often unrealistic expectations (Hill, 1993). This issue has gained prominence in discussions on development policies, particularly following Brexit, which has significantly widened the gap by depriving the EU of the UK's substantial contributions to the development budget (Perez & Olivie, 2020; Price, 2019; Szynol, 2020). Despite the expanding scope of development policy, funding has consistently fallen short of the 0.7% GNI commitment for aid spending in most EU countries. These underfunding issues exacerbate the challenges faced by the EU in fulfilling its development objectives, highlighting the need for more effective policy management and resource allocation.

Nevertheless, upon closer examination of the root causes underlying the efficacy gap in EU development policies, it becomes evident that the success of these initiatives and the perceived disjunction between their objectives and outcomes are profoundly influenced by the subsequent implementation process. This is particularly true within the context of the Southern Neighbourhood, where scholars have illuminated how various local factors—including state capacity, transparency, accountability, the role of civil society organisations (CSOs), the type of governance, and prevailing mistrust—interact in a complex manner that ultimately shapes development outcomes.

Effective governance is an indispensable element for the successful implementation of development policies. It encapsulates the ability of governments to design, execute, and oversee policies that foster economic growth and enhance social welfare. According to Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi (2010), governance effectiveness is multifaceted, encompassing political stability, government efficiency, regulatory quality, and adherence to the rule of law. These dimensions collectively ensure that development policies are not only theoretically sound but are also practically executable and subject to rigorous monitoring. Williams (2021) critically reassesses the conventional, aggregated concept of capacity when evaluating bureaucratic performance and policy implementation. He contends that there is frequently a pronounced discrepancy between the theoretical potential of bureaucracies—often labelled as 'capacity'—and their actual operational

behaviour. Empirical studies consistently demonstrate that nations endowed with robust governance structures tend to achieve superior development outcomes. For instance, Morocco's decentralisation and local governance reform approach has yielded tangible outcomes. Despite limitations, the government's initiatives have led to some success in enhancing local development, illustrating that targeted governance reforms can contribute to more effective policy implementation when aligned with local capacities and political will (Bergh, 2017). In contrast, the post-Arab Spring period in Tunisia has been characterised by a dual trajectory. While there have been notable strides toward democratisation and transparency, these efforts have been undermined by persistent bureaucratic inefficiencies and political instability, which have hampered the implementation of development initiatives (Arieff, 2014). This juxtaposition of progress and stagnation underscores the complexity of achieving sustainable reforms in a transitional context with low levels of governance effectiveness.

The role of non-institutionalized actors, including informal networks, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), and CSOs, is also critical in the development process, particularly in environments where formal institutions are either weak or ineffective (Engerman & Sokoloff, 2008). These actors can supplement formal development efforts by delivering essential services, advocating for policy reforms, and mobilising community resources (Durac & Cavatorta, 2022). They play a pivotal role in reaching segments of the population that may be inaccessible to external actors, thereby providing crucial insights into partner countries' genuine needs and local dynamics. Lewis (2014), in his seminal work on NGOs, explores the evolving role of these organisations in international development. In the specific context of the Southern Neighbourhood, scholars such as Cammett (2014) have demonstrated how NGOs and community organisations in Lebanon have been vital in providing social services and pushing for policy reforms in the absence of robust state institutions. Similarly, Hammami (2000) and Mouna (2018) highlight how civil society organisations in Palestine and Morocco have successfully implemented various development projects despite the challenging political environments.

Despite ongoing structural reforms and the introduction of new discourses, the EU's development cooperation approach still faces significant challenges in achieving satisfactory levels of effectiveness. This has sparked a sustained scholarly debate about whether the numerous changes in EU development policy have truly resulted in a paradigm shift over the years. Indeed, some scholars argue that, despite apparent changes and adaptations to new challenges and geopolitical shifts, the fundamental approach and objectives of EU development policy—especially concerning the developing world—have largely remained unchanged (Delputte & Orbie, 2020; Di Ciommo,

2021; Bilal et al., 2021; Orbie et al., 2022). This debate encapsulates the broader discourse of continuity versus change within EU development policy and underscores the complexities inherent in assessing its evolution. It also raises critical questions about the efficacy of policy changes and the EU's capacity to adapt to emerging global realities while remaining true to its foundational values.

Section II - Argument & Methodology

Argument

Given the brevity of this contribution, the efficacy gap — intended as the divergence between set objectives and the tangible outcomes — will herein be analysed as the result of two main drivers. On the one hand, they extensively discussed issues of coordination and coherence, and on the other hand, the implementation problems encountered at the country level. Since this research focuses on the EU involvement in the development of the Southern Neighbourhood, the implementation hurdles referred to in section V are region-specific and not necessarily generalisable.

EU scholars of development policies and aid effectiveness primarily focus on multigovernance issues as the main driver of inefficacy (e.g. Kugiel, 2020; Carbone & Keijzer, 2016;
Picciotto, 2005). In the context of EU development policies, these refer to the complexities and
challenges that arise from the involvement of multiple actors at various levels of governance,
including local, national, and international bodies. These issues are characterised by difficulties in
coordinating and aligning policies and objectives across different governance levels, leading to
inefficiencies in policy management. For instance, the EU's development initiatives in the developing
world, including the Southern Neighbourhood, often involve coordination between EU institutions,
Member States, partner country governments, and various international organisations, each with their
own agendas and operational frameworks. This multi-level governance likely complicates policy
coherence and coordination, potentially leading to overlapping responsibilities and conflicting
policies (ibid).

However, this Eurocentric perspective often overlooks the relevance of internal dynamics within partner countries, which can either facilitate or hinder the successful implementation of development policies. For instance, variations in local governance structures and capacities can affect the transfer and implementation of EU policies (Börzel & Risse, 2010). Similarly, the vitality of internal political structures and civil society can affect international negotiations and policy implementation procedures (Schneckener, 2010). Countries with more accountable and transparent governance structures and robust civil society involvement tend to experience better developmental outcomes. For instance, improved public service delivery, infrastructure development, and social welfare programs often correlate with higher governance effectiveness scores.

Hence, while recognising the significance of multi-governance issues, this dissertation underscores that, in the context of the Southern Neighbourhood, where political transitions and governance challenges are prevalent, the effectiveness of governance structures, including state capacity, civil society's role, levels of accountability, transparency, human rights, and democracy are equally crucial for determining policy success.

Consequentially, this contribution builds on the belief that EU development policies must be designed with an understanding of inter-institutional dynamics and tailored to address the specific implementation challenges unique to each partner country to bridge the efficacy gap effectively. This assumes that:

- 1. Multi-governance problems can be mitigated through improved coordination and integration of policies at different governance levels. This includes better alignment of goals, strategies, and actions between the EU, Member States, and partner countries.
- 2. Development policies must be flexible and adaptable to each partner country's needs and conditions. This adaptability requires a deep understanding of local factors, which should be integrated into the policy design and implementation processes.
- 3. Successful policy implementation is contingent upon active involvement and buy-in from local stakeholders, including governments, civil society organisations, and the population. Policies perceived as externally imposed without local input are less likely to succeed.

EU development policy has consistently evolved in the last decade to meet its objectives and improve the effectiveness of its actions. Apart from the reforms concerning the architecture of aid provision, the rationale behind development policies, specifically toward the neighbourhood, has evolved, too. Since 2016, the relationships with those regions have been guided by two principles: resilience and local ownership. The first one refers to the reform of domestic structures following Western templates to increase their viability, whereas local ownership entails the responsibility of domestic actors to implement externally developed policies (Petrova & Delcour, 2019). These should have led to increased effectiveness and the establishment of symmetrical partnerships. However, the relatively negative evaluation of EU successes in this realm signals a flaw in the system.

In light of such considerations, this research wants to assess to what extent the recent evolutions in EU development policy are sufficiently well-equipped to bridge the efficacy gap. The Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI) represents the most significant effort of the EU to address these challenges, aiming to improve the effectiveness of development actions. First, by combining eleven previous financing mechanisms into one, it is

deemed to improve the flexibility of funds allocation and access and streamline remits that overlapped; second, by improving the tailoress of actions through more symmetrical dialogue, it should contribute to overcoming the donor-recipient paradigm; third, by reorganising the design of aid provision along a more structured approach, it should improve the effectiveness of funds repartition and internal coherence (Commission, 2021). Based on existing literature on the topic and the data collected, this dissertation will analyse these hypotheses to assess to what extent NDICI is fit for purpose.

This research will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of aid effectiveness, considering both multi-governance issues and third-country implementation hurdles. It proposes that successful development policy is not merely a product of well-coordinated international efforts but also deeply contextualised and locally informed strategies. This shift in focus could potentially lead to more sustainable and impactful development outcomes, directly addressing the core issues at the heart of the efficacy gap.

Methodology

This research adopts a mixed-methods approach to gain a nuanced understanding of NDICI-Global Europe's potential to enhance the effectiveness of EU development policies in the Southern Neighbourhood. This design merges quantitative and qualitative data collection methods, offering a more complete picture than either approach alone.

Quantitative methods involved document analysis of key NDICI-Global Europe policy documents, budget allocations, and progress reports. The starting point for this analysis is the proposal for creating the NDICI-Global Europe instrument, which lays out its rationale, objectives, and anticipated outcomes within the broader EU external action framework (COM, 2018). Additionally, the analysis drew on the regulation establishing the NDICI-Global Europe instrument to gain a comprehensive overview of the instrument's architecture, including the allocation of funds, priority areas, and implementation mechanisms (Regulation (EU) 2021/947). By examining this regulation, the research is able to assess the alignment between the instrument's design and its strategic goals. The research also incorporates the official review of previous external action instruments' performance, offering a comparative perspective, identifying the shortcomings and successes of past policies and explaining how these experiences informed the development of NDICI-Global Europe (Eur-lex, 2017). Further enriching this analysis is the European Parliament's public hearing of July 2023, which focused on the implementation of NDICI-Global Europe. This hearing provides valuable

points of view from the Court of Auditors, the Commission, the EEAS, MEPs, and research institutes on the instrument, highlighting both achievements and challenges. This is complemented by the official mid-term review conducted by EU institutions earlier this year (CoEU, 2024). In addition to these official documents, the research incorporates reports from EU-related networks, such as CONCORD Europe and the European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM) (CONCORD, 2023; Jones & Keijzer, 2021; Jones et al., 2018a; 2018b; Di Ciommo & Sergejeff, 2021; Sabourin t al., 2023). The analysis of these reports, offering independent evaluations and critiques of NDICI-Global Europe, allowed for a more nuanced understanding of the instrument's effectiveness, particularly in its interactions with civil society organisations and its responsiveness to third countries' needs.

The qualitative analysis is conducted through semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders, including EU policymakers from DG NEAR and an official of the EU delegation to Cairo, complementing the mixed-methods approach. These interviewees were reached via their institutional emails, some of which were provided by the Italian Permanent Representation to the EU, while the DG officials themselves have shared others. These interviews, which were carried out in compliance with ethical requirements², were crucial in exploring the intricacies of multi-governance issues at the EU level. Through direct engagement with officials responsible for various aspects of EU development policies, the research gathers detailed insights into the procedural steps of the NDICI-Global Europe instrument. These discussions also clarified recent policy innovations and highlighted concerns regarding these developments, offering unique perspectives on the internal challenges faced by the EU in the policy-making process. Additionally, interviews with staff of the EU delegation to Cairo offered a comprehensive understanding of the dynamics at the local level. This official provided first-hand accounts of the challenges encountered during the implementation of EU policies, particularly regarding how local factors—such as political, social, and economic conditions—influence policy effectiveness. Their experiences of interaction and collaboration with civil society organisations emphasise their critical role in the successful execution of EU initiatives. The insights gathered through these interviews provided an inside perspective on the workings of the NDICI-Global Europe instrument and a nuanced understanding of the complex dynamics between EU institutions, Southern Neighbourhood countries, and civil society organisations.

-

² MRSU-23/24-44962

This qualitative approach, combined with the robust quantitative analysis, is essential for building a comprehensive and contextually grounded evaluation of the instrument's potential impact, thereby enhancing the reliability and depth of the research findings.

Section III: Tracing EU development policies towards the Southern Neighbourhood

The EU's relationship with the Mediterranean Middle East and North Africa (MENA) countries provides a clear example of the persistent issues affecting its development policies. As the region's complex political and social landscape interacts with EU objectives and geopolitical trajectory, the difficulties of translating ambitious policies into effective, on-the-ground results become more apparent. This section traces the evolution of these engagements, with a particular focus on Egypt and Jordan.

Relations between the two regions have deep historical roots, with formalised cooperation dating back to the inception of European integration in the mid-20th century. The 1957 Treaty of Rome, which established the European Economic Community (EEC), included provisions for economic agreements with newly independent former colonies such as Tunisia and Morocco. This early engagement reflected not only economic interests but also the lingering influence of European colonial powers, particularly France, in the region. Algeria, still part of France until its independence in 1962, further exemplified these dynamics. In the following decades, Europe's post-colonial engagement with the MENA region was characterised by a blend of economic cooperation and security concerns. Initiatives like the 1972 Global Mediterranean Policy (GMP) and subsequent cooperation efforts in the 1980s were largely driven by European economic and geopolitical interests, especially as the region faced instability due to conflicts like the Arab-Israeli war and internal unrest. The EEC's approach was often seen as an extension of colonial-era policies, with critics suggesting that Europe sought to maintain influence over its former colonies under the guise of regional stability and economic partnership (e.g. Del Sarto, 2016).

A significant shift occurred in 1995 with the launch of the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (EMP), also known as the Barcelona Process³. This initiative marked a transition from the asymmetrical relations of the past towards a more structured and multifaceted approach to cooperation. The EMP was built on three key pillars: a political and security partnership aimed at creating a shared area of peace and stability through political dialogue and security cooperation; an economic and financial partnership designed to foster economic integration by creating a free trade area and supporting economic transitions in partner countries through financial assistance and investment; and a social, cultural, and human partnership emphasising civil society engagement and

³ Barcelona Declaration adopted at the Euro-Mediterranean Conference (1995), November 27-28.

fostering mutual understanding between Europe and the MENA region. The EMP was notable for introducing a commitment to shared values, such as democracy, human rights, and the rule of law, as integral components of the relationship. It also introduced the concept of region-building, where the EU sought to extend its norms, regulations, and standards to its Mediterranean partners. Despite its ambitious goals, however, the EMP faced numerous challenges. Chief among these was the stagnation of the Middle East Peace Process and the growing divergence in priorities between EU Member States and their Mediterranean partners. Political tensions in the region, including ongoing conflicts, further undermined the partnership's objectives (Menendez & Youngs, 2006).

In response to these challenges and the EU's enlargement to Eastern Europe, the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) was introduced in 2004 as a complementary framework to the EMP. The ENP aimed to strengthen political, economic, and social cooperation between the EU and its neighbouring countries, including those in the southern Mediterranean. One of the central features of the ENP was the bilateral Action Plans, which were tailored to each partner country's specific needs and capacities. These plans outlined the priorities for cooperation, including political reform, economic integration, and social development. The ENP also introduced a principle of conditionality, wherein the EU offered greater incentives, such as financial support and market access, to countries that demonstrated progress in democratic reforms and good governance (Del Sarto & Schumacher, 2005). While the ENP was designed to deepen cooperation, it faced significant criticism. Many argued that the policy was too Eurocentric, focusing on the promotion of European norms and standards without fully accounting for the complex political, social, and economic realities of the MENA region (Pace, 2007). The onset of the Arab Spring in 2011 exposed the limitations of the EU's approach, as the uprisings demonstrated the deep-seated governance challenges that existing policies had not adequately addressed. Initially hesitant in its response, the EU eventually sought to adjust its approach, emphasising "deep and sustainable democracy" and reinforcing political conditionality through the 'more for more' principle. This approach was intended to reward those countries willing to embark on meaningful reforms with enhanced support, including increased financial aid, greater market access, and mobility agreements.

Despite these efforts, the EU's development and foreign policy ambitions in the MENA region have been plagued by contradictions. On the one hand, the EU has promoted democratisation and liberal values, but on the other, it has often prioritised stability and security, maintaining relationships with authoritarian regimes in the interest of counterterrorism, migration management, and energy security (Youngs, 2002; Bicchi, 2009). This "democratization-stability dilemma" has led to an inconsistent policy framework, where short-term realpolitik considerations frequently override the

longer-term goals of development and political reform. Moreover, regional governments have often resisted EU-driven reforms, further complicating the Union's regional development objectives.

Following the Arab Spring, the EU undertook a comprehensive review of its neighbourhood policy in 2015, seeking to address its shortcomings. The revised European Neighbourhood Policy placed greater emphasis on differentiation, recognising that a "one size fits all" approach (Bicchi, 2006) was not appropriate given the diversity of political and economic conditions in the region. The policy also shifted towards a more pragmatic focus on stabilisation, prioritising security and economic development, and addressing the root causes of instability, such as unemployment and social exclusion. The revised ENP underscored the importance of local ownership and tailored partnerships, aiming to empower partner countries to take greater control of their development agendas while allowing the EU to respond flexibly to the varying needs of its southern neighbours (Schumacher, 2016).

The 2016 EU Global Strategy further reinforced this pragmatic turn, placing resilience and sustainable development at the heart of the EU's external action. Recognising the limits of its influence, the strategy promoted a more modest and adaptable approach, seeking to strengthen partnerships based on mutual interests rather than unilaterally promoting EU norms. The revised strategy also acknowledged the growing multipolarity of the international system, which posed new challenges and competition from global actors such as China and Russia in the MENA region (EUGS, 2016). On this note, the introduction of the Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI) in 2021 reflects the EU's most recent and ambitious attempt to overcome these historical obstacles by streamlining its external funding instruments and enhancing the coherence of its external actions.

These general trends in EU-MENA relations are exemplified in the EU's bilateral relationships with key MENA countries such as Egypt and Jordan, where the EU's strategic interests often intersect with its normative agenda, leading to complex and sometimes contradictory policies.

EU-Egypt relations

As the largest and most populous country in the Arab world, Egypt holds significant strategic importance for the European Union. Situated at the crossroads of Africa, the Middle East, and Europe, Egypt is a critical partner in matters of security, migration, energy, and regional stability. Historically, the EU-Egypt relationship has evolved through various cooperation frameworks, including the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership and the European Neighbourhood Policy. However, this relationship is

also fraught with challenges, particularly in the realms of governance, human rights, and democratic reforms.

Indeed, the country's turbulent political history has heavily influenced the EU's political engagement with Egypt, especially since the 2011 Egyptian revolution. Initially, the EU welcomed Egypt's democratic transition, offering significant support to civil society and democratic institutions under the ENP. However, the military coup in 2013, which brought Abdel Fattah el-Sisi to power, dramatically altered the EU's approach. Post-2013, the EU found itself in a difficult position. While the authoritarian nature of the Sisi regime, marked by the suppression of opposition, media censorship, and widespread human rights violations, contradicted the EU's normative goals, Egypt's strategic importance led to a policy of "principled pragmatism." Stability in Egypt was deemed crucial for broader regional security, particularly in the context of counterterrorism efforts and managing migration flows (Schumacher, 2015). As a result, the EU refrained from imposing punitive measures such as sanctions, choosing instead to maintain diplomatic ties and cooperation, especially in areas like security and economic development (Comelli & Paciello, 2009). This pragmatic approach attracted criticism for undermining the EU's credibility as a global promoter of democracy and human rights.

In the economic realm, relations between the EU and Egypt are robust, with the EU being Egypt's largest trading partner. The EU-Egypt Association Agreement, signed in 2004, remains the cornerstone of their trade and economic cooperation, which includes substantial EU development aid directed toward infrastructure, education, healthcare, and rural development (European Commission and HR/VP 2015; EIB, 2018). However, economic cooperation has not been without challenges. While the EU promotes market liberalisation and economic reforms in Egypt, pervasive issues such as corruption, political instability, and regulatory unpredictability have limited the country's ability to fully capitalise on these opportunities. Moreover, while the EU provides financial support for development projects, it has often been accused of neglecting to address the deeper structural problems within Egypt's governance, which contribute to economic stagnation and inequality (*Al-Araby Al-Jadeed*, 2016).

Also, energy cooperation has emerged as a particularly critical area of interest. The discovery of the Zohr gas field in the Eastern Mediterranean has positioned Egypt as a potential energy hub for the region, which could help the EU diversify its energy sources and reduce dependence on Russian gas. This strategic interest has further incentivised the EU to maintain a cooperative relationship with Egypt despite ongoing concerns about governance and human rights.

Security cooperation is another key pillar of the EU's relationship with Egypt, particularly in counterterrorism (European Commission and HR/VP 2017). Egypt's fight against extremist groups, especially in the Sinai Peninsula, and its proximity to conflict zones like Libya make it a critical partner for the EU's regional security strategy. The rise of ISIS-affiliated groups and the persistent threat of terrorism in Egypt have created a strong alignment of interests between Cairo and Brussels. The EU has provided financial and technical support to Egypt for counterterrorism measures and border security, particularly through the EU Emergency Trust Fund for Africa. However, this cooperation has sparked controversy. Human rights organisations have raised concerns that the EU's support for Egyptian security forces, which are frequently accused of violating human rights, may indirectly contribute to internal repression.

Egypt's role as a transit country for migrants and refugees seeking to reach Europe has also made it an essential partner in the EU's migration management strategy. Although Egypt is not a primary source of migrants, its geographical location makes it a significant transit hub for migrants from Sub-Saharan Africa, the Horn of Africa, and the Middle East. The EU has engaged Egypt through the ENP and bilateral agreements to strengthen border control, reduce irregular migration, and provide humanitarian assistance to migrants. Egypt's cooperation in curbing migrant flows has been rewarded with financial aid and diplomatic engagement. However, this migration cooperation is criticised for focusing too much on containment and not enough on addressing the root causes of migration, such as poverty, unemployment, and political repression in both Egypt and the migrant-sending countries.

The most contentious aspect of EU-Egypt relations remains the human rights situation. Under President Sisi, Egypt has seen a sharp deterioration in civil liberties, with widespread arrests of political activists, journalists, and opposition members (HRW, 2014; European Parliament, 2006; 2016). Despite the EU's vocal criticism of these abuses, its actions have been limited. While the EU has occasionally suspended financial aid related to civil society and human rights projects, it has avoided harsher measures such as sanctions, largely due to Egypt's importance in counterterrorism and migration control. This reluctance to take a firmer stand on human rights has led to accusations that the EU is compromising its principles for short-term security and economic gains. Critics argue that by failing to push harder for democratic reforms, the EU is enabling the Sisi regime's authoritarianism and undermining its credibility as a global advocate for human rights (EuroMed Rights, 2016).

EU-Jordan relations

Similarly, the relationship between the European Union and Jordan stands as a notable case of pragmatic cooperation, shaped by the delicate balance between promoting stability and advancing normative values such as democracy and human rights. Unlike other states in the region, Jordan has maintained relative political stability under its constitutional monarchy. However, this stability has been paired with limited political liberalisation and persistent governance and human rights challenges. The EU's approach, particularly post-Arab Spring, highlights the tension between its strategic priorities and normative commitments. The EU's discourse around democracy and human rights in Jordan has historically been ambitious, aligning with broader European Neighbourhood Policy objectives of fostering democratic governance. However, the actual practice has been more restrained, as the EU has often prioritised stability, especially in light of regional turmoil following the Arab Spring (Jonasson & Mezagopian, 2017). Compared to the widespread unrest in neighbouring states, Jordan's relative stability has positioned the country as a key strategic partner. The EU, while continuing to promote political reforms, has moderated its demands, often prioritising security concerns and regional stability over rapid democratisation. Jordan's monarchy, under King Abdullah II, has enacted several reforms, including constitutional amendments and efforts to enhance civil society. However, these reforms have often been criticised as piecemeal and insufficient. Critics argue that the EU's engagement lacks sufficient pressure for deeper political reforms, such as expanding parliamentary powers or enhancing judicial independence. Instead, the EU has supported a gradualist approach, reflecting concerns that more aggressive political changes could destabilise the monarchy, especially given the proximity of conflicts in Syria and Iraq (Seeberg, 2016). While understandable from a strategic perspective, this cautious approach raises questions about the EU's genuine commitment to fostering meaningful political liberalisation in Jordan.

Migration management and security have become central pillars of EU-Jordan relations, particularly in the aftermath of the Syrian refugee crisis. The 2016 Jordan Compact exemplifies this focus, linking trade concessions with Jordan's commitment to integrating Syrian refugees into its labour market (Seeberg, 2016). The Compact, while innovative, has faced significant challenges. Many Syrian refugees remain outside the formal labour market due to legal restrictions and competition with local workers. Moreover, critics argue that the EU's reliance on Jordan to manage such a large refugee population externalises Europe's own migration responsibilities without addressing the root causes of displacement. Security cooperation, especially in the context of counterterrorism, further underscores the EU's prioritisation of stability. Jordan's strategic location, bordering conflict zones in Syria and Iraq, has made it an indispensable partner in regional security initiatives. Consequently, the EU has provided the country with significant financial and technical

support for border management and counterterrorism efforts. However, similarly to Egypt, this focus on security has drawn criticism for overshadowing the EU's commitment to promoting democratic governance. By prioritising security cooperation, there is a risk of reinforcing authoritarian practices in Jordan, particularly in the realm of surveillance and suppression of dissent.

Economic cooperation between the EU and Jordan is another critical aspect of their relationship. However, it remains heavily reliant on EU financial assistance as Jordan's economy faces profound structural challenges, including high unemployment, limited natural resources, and a significant public debt burden. The ongoing Syrian refugee crisis has only exacerbated these issues, further straining Jordan's fragile economy. While the EU has provided substantial financial aid, including through the Jordan Compact, these efforts have not fully addressed the deeper structural problems impeding long-term economic growth (Metwally, 2004). Similarly, the EU-Jordan Association Agreement, which has been in force since 2002, has facilitated trade liberalisation. However, Jordan's exports to the EU remain limited due to barriers such as insufficient industrial capacity and regulatory challenges. While crucial, the EU's financial support has been criticised for focusing too heavily on immediate economic stabilisation rather than addressing the root causes of Jordan's economic stagnation.

The increasing informalization of EU-Jordan relations, particularly in the realm of migration governance, has marked a shift in the EU's approach (Seeberg & Zardo, 2023). Rather than relying solely on formal agreements, such as the Association Agreement, the EU has turned to more flexible, informal mechanisms like the Jordan Compact. This shift reflects broader trends in EU migration governance, where securitisation has become a dominant narrative. The EU's emphasis on migration control, framed within the context of security threats, has led to a more transactional relationship with Jordan, where stability and migration management take precedence over deeper political reforms. This formalisation has been both a response to the challenges posed by the refugee crisis and a strategic adaptation to the complexities of the MENA region. However, it has also raised concerns about the EU's commitment to its normative goals. Again, by focusing on short-term security gains, the EU risks undermining its long-term objectives of promoting democratic governance and human rights. The Jordan Compact, for example, while addressing immediate migration challenges, has been criticised for failing to provide sustainable solutions for both Syrian refugees and Jordan's broader economic challenges.

The historical trajectory of EU development policies towards the Southern Neighbourhood is a complex narrative that reveals both the evolution of the EU's approach and the persistent challenges that have hindered its effectiveness, exemplified by the cases of Egypt and Jordan. From the tradecentric policies of the Global Mediterranean Policy (GMP) to the more holistic but often inconsistent Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (EMP) and European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), the EU has continually sought to refine its engagement with the region. Each framework introduced new mechanisms for cooperation and development yet struggled with issues of coordination, policy coherence, and the unique implementation challenges posed by the political and socio-economic dynamics of the MENA region. The introduction of the Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI) in 2021, whose effects are yet to be explored, reflects the EU's most recent and ambitious attempt to overcome these historical obstacles. In the following sections, this contribution will carry out an in-depth analysis of the NDICI-Global Europe framework, specifically evaluating its potential to bridge the efficacy gap in EU development policies through improved coordination and coherence. It will also assess the extent to which NDICI's design offers solutions to the long-standing challenges identified in the EU's previous engagements with the Southern Neighbourhood.

Section IV - NDICI-Global Europe: Coordination and Coherence Issues

"Our new comprehensive instrument underpins the EU's external action and enables us to be a leading global player and a reliable partner in the international scene, supporting our multilateral agenda. It gives us the flexibility needed to respond faster and in a more coherent way to ongoing and emerging global challenges, while supporting global priorities such as peace and stability, good governance, trade and inclusive and sustainable growth. This is what the world is expecting from the EU, and we deliver it." - The HRVP Josep Borrell (Commission, 2021)

As mentioned above, NDICI-Global Europe represents the European Union's latest advancement in bolstering its strategic international presence and improving the quality of its development efforts. This section examines how its design substantially improves internal coordination and policy coherence.

Coordination

The greatest innovation introduced through NDICI-GE is undoubtedly streamlining multiple financial instruments under a unified framework. This structural overhaul was designed to simplify European development policy funding mechanisms and procedures, ensuring a more efficient architecture for resource allocation and action programming (Commission, 2018). Consequently, the European Development Fund (EDF), the European Neighbourhood Instrument (ENI), the Development Cooperation Instrument (DCI), the European Instrument for Democracy and Human Rights (EIDHR), the Instrument contributing to Stability and Peace (IcSP), the Partnership Instrument (PI), the Instrument for Nuclear Safety Cooperation (INSC), the External Lending Mandate (ELM), the Macro-Financial Assistance (MFA), the European Fund for Sustainable Development (EFSD), and the Guarantee Fund for External Actions (EAG) have all been integrated under NDICI-GE. Having a unique rationale for development cooperation efforts allows for the simplification and rationalisation of management and oversight systems and reduces the administrative burden for EU institutions and Member States as well as for partner countries. Similarly, actions that receive cumulative funding from different Union programmes shall be audited only once, covering all involved programmes and their respective applicable rules (ECA, 2023). Moreover, the budgetisation of the previously intergovernmental EDF constitutes a notable innovation, diminishing Member States' influence over program design and funding, thus facilitating more coordinated policies and swifter adoption procedures.

Enhanced coordination also benefits from several structural innovations within governance frameworks. Noteworthy among these is the establishment of a biannual high-level geopolitical dialogue between the European Parliament, the High Representative, and relevant external action commissioners. This dialogue gives the Parliament an unprecedented opportunity to offer strategic guidance throughout the process, share concerns, and suggest future directions. This complements the already institutionalised regular exchanges between the Commission and the Council within the NDICI group, which is equally critical in steering and coordination. In addition to the NDICI committees replacing ENI ones, a specific governance setting is envisaged for the new European Fund for Sustainable Development Plus (EFSD+), encompassing a strategic board and an operational board that includes representatives from the European Commission, the High Representative, all EU Member States, and the European Investment Bank (EIB). Ongoing discussions suggest that observer status may be extended to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) and European Development Finance Institutions (DFIs) alongside the Parliament (Sergejeff et al., 2022). This would provide another space for dialogue and coordination among EU financial players.

Similarly, the instrument's three-pillar structure significantly favours coordination. The geographic, thematic, and rapid response pillars, along with a reserve cushion, form a robust framework that can effectively tackle a wide range of global issues. These pillars are organised hierarchically, with geographic programs comprising most of NDICI-Global Europe's budget, supplemented by thematic programs. The rapid response pillar and reserve further augment this structure, creating a comprehensive and layered framework for development and emergency interventions. The geographic pillar, comprising 75% of the total budget (€60.39 billion), allocates financial resources to various global regions, with the EU Neighbourhoods and sub-Saharan Africa being the key focus areas, receiving €19.3 billion and €29.2 billion, respectively. Meanwhile, the thematic pillar focuses on issues like human rights and democracy, civil society, stability and peace, and global challenges, supplementing geographic programs by addressing matters tackled more effectively on a global scale. Although it builds on previous EU thematic instruments and initiatives, its funding has been reduced (€6.36 billion), reflecting a shift towards prioritising EU cooperation at the country or regional level. The €3.2 billion rapid response pillar is a flexible, non-programmable fund designed to swiftly address crises, conflicts, and instability, effectively replacing the former Instrument contributing to Stability and Peace (IcSP). This pillar underscores the interconnectedness of security interventions, humanitarian aid, and development assistance to implement the triple nexus (Howe, 2019). Finally, the cushion, representing around 11% of the total budget (about €9 billion), serves as a safety net that enables the European Commission to deal with unanticipated events, new, foreign, or Union-led projects, as well as emerging challenges. It may supplement and support projects and activities across all three pillars, guaranteeing the EU's dynamic response to global developments⁴.

This structure endows the EU strategy for development cooperation with an essential degree of flexibility, addressing one of the primary challenges of the previous architecture. The organisation of actions and funds along three complementary pillars already enhances agility, a capability further reinforced by the organisation of Multiannual Indicative Programs (MIPs) around priority areas rather than traditional focal sectors. Indeed, this approach facilitates interlinked responses and more effective use of synergies.

Regarding policy framework, NDICI-Global Europe integrates key policy documents at the EU level, including the EU Global Strategy and the New European Consensus on Development. These documents provide a strategic direction that guides the EU's external actions, including its development initiatives. By anchoring its operations in these strategic documents, NDICI-Global Europe ensures its actions consistently align with the EU's goals. Moreover, the instrument is implemented following the general framework of Association Agreements, Partnership and Cooperation Agreements, Multilateral Agreements, and other legally binding agreements with partner countries (Art 7, Reg. 2021/947). This framework also incorporates the European Council's and the Council's conclusions, summit declarations, high-level meetings with partner countries, relevant European Parliament resolutions, and communications from the Commission and the High Representative (COM, 2018).

Another main concern associated with the effectiveness of EU actions is the coordination with Member States' agendas. Indeed, development policies fall under shared competence, allowing both MSs and the EU to bring forward their development programmes almost individually. In this regard, NDICI-GE's design is poised to boost coordination between the two frameworks of action thanks to the Team Europe Initiative (TEIs) that complement it. Initially established to coordinate the Union's actions with those of Member States in response to the COVID-19 crisis, the Team Europe Approach is now increasingly applied within EU development policies (Jones & Teevan, 2021). TEIs are intended to be high-profile and recognisable European flagship initiatives, focusing on areas where the EU and its Member States can achieve the greatest collective impact at national, regional, and global levels. Their integration into the NDICI is seen as one of its most notable innovations. At the national level, TEIs are flexible and tailored to local needs, with EU delegations, Member States, and

⁴ However, by July 2023, 80% of the cushion budget had already been used to tackle the disruptions of COVID-19, the Syrian refugee crisis and to support Ukraine.

European financial institutions collaborating on their design (Hodson & Howarth, 2023). Regionally, TEIs are developed at the EU headquarters, facilitating broader participation from Team Europe members, including those not physically present in certain countries. This approach highly resonates with NDICI-Global Europe and the Global Gateway (EC. n.d.) promotion of 'working better together', notably through joint programming, implementation, and monitoring of development cooperation between the EU and its Member States to ensure greater coordination and avoid overlaps.

NDICI-Global Europe has also been positively received due to its integrated financial architecture for external investment. The European Fund for Sustainable Development Plus (EFSD+) and the External Action Guarantee (EAG) aim at mobilising public and private sector investments that have recently gained increasing importance in the new EU strategy for development action and addressing market failures and sub-optimal investment situations (Bilal, 2019). Under the NDICI-Global Europe regulation, the EU can offer guarantees through EFSD+ up to €53.5 billion between 2021 and 2027, potentially leveraging up to €0.5 trillion in investments (COM, 2020). Furthermore, in June 2021, conclusions were adopted by the Council on enhancing the EU's financial architecture for development (CoEU, 2021). This initiative aims to optimise the diverse array of European actors and instruments to reinforce the coordination between European financial institutions for development, notably the European Investment Bank (EIB) and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). Central to this strategy is the provision of blended finance and guarantees through those development financial institutions that adhere to the EU's stringent budgetary regulations.

Introducing private financing and cooperation with external financial institutions under NDICI-GE is crucial to address the capability-expectation gap related to funding. Although EU grants play a strategic role in attracting foreign investment and serve as a guarantee to facilitate complex, high-risk investments, the EU budget alone is insufficient to fully implement effective actions abroad or achieve its external policy's ambitious goals. Indeed, should the EU seek to elevate its geopolitical and geo-economic influence, it would be imperative to present a unified position within multilateral financial international fora (Bilal, 2019). This requires increased coordination between the Union and its Member States outside the EU budget and closer relations with third countries' business sectors (ibid).

Concrete examples of the effectiveness of this approach are already there. An interviewee from DG NEAR Jordan's desk shared his positive assessment of this practice, which allowed the team to mobilise, under a TEI⁵, a significant amount of funds to finance a water management project, one

-

⁵ "Jordan - Sustainable Water Management"

of the country's main issues. According to him, the "power" of this approach lies not only in the increased funds but also in the external perception of a unified European front committed to the cause.

Coherence

The drivers of the efficacy gap from the EU side are not limited to the multi-governance and coordination issues addressed above. Instead, the EU's development policies also suffer from a wide rhetoric-practice gap, reflected in the mismatch between what the EU says and what it does. Specific to the Southern Neighbourhood, the discourse surrounding EU relations with the region has been essentially normative for a long time – as outlined in Section III. The EU has positioned itself as the upholder of liberal-democratic values, which it was committed to spreading in its neighbouring countries. As Balfour and Schmid (2011) argue, the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) expectations were already based on the EU's normative identity and the assumption that the Southern Neighbourhood countries would aspire to align with EU standards. However, the increasing politicisation of its external action soon resulted in the prioritisation of its strategic interests over its value-sharing mission. This trend, evident in the broader EU foreign policy, was accompanied by rising criticism accusing the Union of losing its original nature and of great incoherence (e.g. Pace, 2009). Therefore, as part of its efforts to increase the effectiveness of its external action, the EU's new approach embraces increased transparency and clearness. Indeed, with NDICI-GE and the Global Gateway more broadly, the EU departs from the normative rhetoric to embrace a bolder and more transparent presentation of its interests. This amplifies the 'principled pragmatism' approach introduced by the Global Strategy as the new rationale for EU external action, which balances a realistic approach with an idealistic aspiration to create a better world (Bremberg, 2020). Therefore, the new logic is reverted. Shifting from earlier programming exercises and agreements that prioritised the needs and priorities of partner countries, the NDICI programming process has been shaped by a more prominent political emphasis on EU values and interests. The EU now sets its priorities for each partner country before identifying potential areas of alignment with the partner country's demands. While this new approach may sound conflicting with the EU's normative primary nature, it allows for greater clarity, reducing the discrepancies between rhetoric and practice in EU external actions and the high levels of incoherence perceived by third countries and the international community at large (Sabourin et al., 2023).

This new line of action, as reflected in the 'policy first' principle leading the new strategy, is a testament to the EU's commitment to strategic efficiency. According to this principle, the EU's external action should be driven by the EU and its partner countries' policy priorities rather than by

funding instruments. This shift is intended to foster more robust political and policy dialogue on issues such as digital governance, climate change, gender equality, and security—areas of mutual interest—thereby enhancing the EU's strategic efficiency (Di Ciommo & Sergejeff, 2021).

Specifically, "policy first" is only one of the four cardinal principles guiding the NDICI-GE, alongside geographisation, partnership and an integrated approach. The geographisation principle, reflected in the large allocation of funds to the geographic pillar, emphasises bilateral cooperation with partner countries and regions, thereby localising and supporting activities while advancing EU national, regional, and global priorities (Jones & Keijzer, 2021). The partnership principle echoes the EU's commitment to build long-term, mutually beneficial partnerships with a diverse array of international and local actors. NDICI-Global Europe allocates a minimum of €500 million to enhance the role of local and regional governments in designing EU development programs (Platforma, 2021). Lastly, the integrated approach principle seeks to consolidate various areas of EU external action and the external dimension of EU internal policies. It aims to address interlinkages between the SDGs, promoting integrated actions that achieve multiple objectives simultaneously (Di Ciommo & Jones, 2019). Indeed, NDICI-GE embodies a consolidated framework that aligns with and actively promotes the broader objectives and standards set forth by major international agreements and the EU's strategic directives. Key to the instrument's framework is its incorporation of overarching international agreements, such as the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Paris Agreement, that steer global efforts towards increased interlinkages between policy areas and a more collaborative approach to development.

Aligning with these global frameworks enhances the effective use of resources by ensuring that EU development aid is closely aligned with the priorities and systems of partner countries. It also facilitates the pooling and leveraging of resources from different EU instruments and programs, thereby amplifying the relevance and impact of the aid provided (Brand et al., 2021). This strategic approach enables the EU to address complex, cross-cutting challenges more efficiently, ensuring that resources from various initiatives contribute towards common goals, thus enhancing the synergistic effects and overall impact of EU development policies.

In its quest for enhanced policy coherence, NDICI-Global Europe's regulation establishes specific horizontal cross-cutting priorities for thematic areas (Sabourin & Jones, 2023). These spending targets mandate a coordinated, holistic, and structured approach: at least 20% of funds are allocated for human development, 30% for climate change initiatives, approximately 10% for the governance of migration and forced displacement, including actions targeting the root causes of these issues, and at least 85% of actions must have gender equality as a principal or significant objective.

Additionally, at least 93% of the funding within the new instrument should be reportable as Official Development Assistance, contributing to the EU's commitment to allocating 0.7% of its collective GDP to Official Development Assistance and 0.2% to the least developed countries.

Section V - NDICI-Global Europe: Implementation Issues in the Southern Neighbourhood

In line with previous cooperation frameworks, NDICI-Global Europe maintains a unique approach to its relationships with neighbouring regions, treating them separately from other areas. The financial support directed towards geographical programs in the Neighbourhood preserves and amplifies key principles from earlier strategies. These include the performance-based approach ('more for more'), which incentivises the implementation of mutually agreed political and economic reforms, and the differentiation-based approach, which tailors support to individual countries' specific circumstances and needs. The criteria for funding allocations within the Neighbourhood are, therefore, uniquely delineated in a separate legal provision (Art. 19, Reg. 2021/947). These include the partner country's needs based on population and development level indicators; the partner's commitment to agreed political, economic, and social reforms and progress in implementation; the country's dedication to building a sustainable democracy and progress in this process; the ambition level of the partnership with the Union; and the absorption capacity and potential impact of Union support.

These criteria blend quantitative and qualitative considerations, crafting a comprehensive evaluative framework that underscores the EU's prioritisation of this region. Nevertheless, the EU's development initiatives in the Southern Neighbourhood are consistently plagued by inefficiencies that cannot be solely attributed to coordination issues at the EU level nor to the divergences between discourse and action. Instead, the root causes of the ineffectiveness of EU development policies are often found on the other side of the Mediterranean, where the implementation process is influenced by a myriad of region- and country-specific factors. Accordingly, drawing from relevant literature and data collected through semi-structured interviews, this section identifies some of the most prevalent obstacles to the smooth implementation of policies in the Southern Neighbourhood, with specific references to Egypt and Jordan. Then, the analysis explains how and to what extent NDICI-Global Europe's rationale and design novelties can contribute to overcoming such difficulties.

One of the initial challenges the EU faces in its engagements with the Southern Neighbourhood is rooted in the perceptions of the region's governing institutions and populations about the EU. These countries have diverse historical and cultural backgrounds, with notably different experiences in their interactions with European powers. Particularly in the Maghreb countries, where the colonial past was especially intense, there tends to be a perception that aligns with what Del Sarto (2016) describes

as "Empire Europe." This historical context can lead to deep-seated mistrust and hesitancy to cooperate. Indeed, EU officials stationed in various delegations frequently encounter obstacles when attempting to forge trust-based relationships with both governmental and civil society representatives. These relationships are crucial for effectively addressing and negotiating sensitive issues such as human rights and democratic reforms; however, they are often volatile. For instance, governmental changes, such as the recent reshuffling of ministerial officials in Egypt, as reported by an interviewee, can disrupt ongoing efforts and force EU representatives to initiate trust-building processes repeatedly.

However, trust issues are two-sided. While partner countries may exhibit reluctance towards the EU, the Union exercises caution in delegating responsibilities to local administrations and civil society organisations (CSOs). The predominant concern stems from the governance structures in these countries, often authoritarian regimes or monarchies, which exert tight control over local CSOs, compromising their independence and reliability. For instance, in 2016, the Egyptian parliament enacted a highly restrictive NGO law that places civil society under strict government oversight and significantly hampers the activities of human rights organisations (Voltolini & Colombo, 2020). The EU primarily worries that this dependency or "affiliation" might lead to a diminished commitment on the part of these organisations, prompting the Union to frequently avoid relying on them to implement its programs. Local CSOs are significantly affected by low-capacity levels, which increase their vulnerability to external pressures from governmental bodies, funders, or other powerful stakeholders. This, in turn, compromises their autonomy and effectiveness, further constraining their operational scope. Indeed, these organisations often struggle with limited human, financial, and technical resources, which are crucial for managing and executing complex projects. The resulting insufficient capacity leads to delays in project timelines, reduced scope of activities, and, ultimately, diminished impact. Moreover, the lack of robust organisational capacity drastically hinders their influence in the planning stages of development projects, preventing these organisations from contributing their local knowledge and expertise and impeding their ability to advocate for the communities they represent. Consequently, projects may not be as well-tailored to the specific needs and circumstances of the local populations, leading to less effective implementation practices.

Capacity-related problems are not limited to the resulting shrinking space of local CSOs. Governments within the Southern Neighbourhood also show low levels of accountability, transparency and ability to enforce public policies, challenging EU commitment to the principle of local ownership. For example, an interviewee from the EU delegation in Cairo highlighted the Egyptian government's ministerial structure as confusing and disorganised, thereby severely

hampering the implementation processes that necessitate effective communication and coordination between EU officials and local stakeholders. Particularly problematic in Cairo is the delay in obtaining governmental clearances or specific documentation. Instances were reported where authorisations requested over a year prior remained unresolved.

While low administrative capacity significantly detracts from the effectiveness of cooperation, the latter is also subject to the willingness of authoritarian regimes, which are generally reluctant to collaborate on sensitive issues and may deliberately slow down the process of granting clearances to stall the implementation of certain action plans. This reluctance was corroborated by a representative from DG NEAR, who noted that such obstacles are not confined to clearances but also include other types of authorisations, such as those related to travel. There have been instances where travel permissions for entering or leaving the country were not granted, thereby preventing EU experts from accessing the region and local authorities or CSO representatives from attending crucial meetings in Brussels. The representative remarked, "Whenever the topic is not aligned with the government's agenda, it is possible that the authorisation is not granted." This practice severely undermines the inclusivity of discussions and challenges the EU's commitment to fostering genuine partnerships rather than maintaining traditional donor-recipient dynamics.

Considering the abovementioned factors as obstacles to a smooth and efficient policy implementation process, NDICI-GE's ability to tackle these challenges appears somewhat limited. Regarding CSOs, the EU recognises these organisations' critical role in accessing the more isolated segments of local populations and their deep understanding of the country's hidden dynamics. Therefore, it has proactively developed action plans to enhance local organisations' administrative capabilities per the resilience-building principle. These plans focus on improving their capacity to manage substantial financial resources, which is currently markedly deficient, and would increase their chances of being actively involved in the implementation phase. Despite these initiatives, the results revealed through interviews indicate that the impact of such capacity-building efforts tends to yield only temporary enhancements. While CSOs may demonstrate improved capabilities to execute specific actions in the short term, achieving sustained long-term improvements remains a significant challenge.

Nonetheless, with the introduction of NDICI-Global Europe, the EU has intensified its commitment to inclusivity by incorporating third countries throughout the policy development process more thoroughly, achieving slightly better outcomes in their integration during the programming phase. This process begins with a year-long 'pre-programming' step, during which EU institutions and delegations engage in extensive analytical work and consultations with local

stakeholders. These efforts delineate the EU's strategic interests and define priorities for cooperation with partner countries. The identified priorities and corresponding financial allocations for 2021-2027 are then encapsulated in regional and country-specific Multiannual Indicative Programs (MIPs). These MIPs are drafted by EU delegations, ratified at EU headquarters, and formally approved by the EU Member States, followed by the adoption of corresponding annual action plans and financing decisions. This shows NDICI's renewed commitment to favour a more efficient alignment of EU interests with those of the partner countries through enhanced involvement of EU delegations, whose direct, in-depth understanding of local needs and specificities allows for more informed and context-driven policy design. However, time issues mitigate improvements in the policy process's inclusivity. The process from design to adoption to actual implementation of these plans spans at least two years, a timeline that hampers the EU's ability to be perceived as effective. This is even more problematic concerning the Southern Neighbourhood – a region subject to persistent instability and high levels of volatility, which, therefore, requires increasingly agile programming and implementation procedures that can adapt to changing priorities and situations on the ground.

However, in terms of flexibility, NDICI-GE does bring some interesting novelties, which not only concern a more flexible allocation of funds but, more importantly, increased adaptability to local contexts through diversified funding management mechanisms. According to Article 26 of the NDICI-Global Europe Regulation, there are two major "methods of cooperation" or management modes. Financing under the instrument can be implemented "either directly by the Commission, by EUDs or by executive agencies, or indirectly through any of the entities listed in the Financial Regulation." In contrast with the previous EDF funding management mechanism, relying almost exclusively on National Authorizing Officers (NAOs) and prioritising grants and projects, NDICI offers a more diversified portfolio of funding options, including loans, blending, and EFSD+guarantees (Sabourin et al., 2023). This allows the EU to choose the most appropriate management mechanism according to the partner country's peculiarities.

In Egypt, for example, where CSOs' capacity is problematically limited, data from the MIPs show that most financing is granted through indirect management. According to Financial Regulation (Regulation (EU, Euratom) 2018/1046), funds can be managed indirectly by entrusting budget implementation tasks to third countries or their designated bodies, international organisations and their agencies, the European Investment Bank (EIB) or European Investment Fund (EIF) together known as the EIB group, and various Union bodies. Public law bodies, private law bodies with a public service mission (e.g. Member State organisations), entities involved in public-private

partnerships, and those handling specific actions under the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP) can also be entrusted, provided they offer sufficient financial guarantees.

This implies that the EU renounces full control over implementation but reduces the administrative burden of managing huge sums. However, this also implies less room for local CSOs to play an active part in implementing the actions as, through indirect management, they compete with other institutions to get grants (CONCORD, 2023).

Insights from Jordan highlight a distinctive approach to funding allocation, with approximately 50% of funds being channelled through budget support. This method suggests a strategic preference by the EU to bolster and enhance existing national strategies rather than introducing and enforcing entirely new strategic frameworks. Such an approach aligns closely with the EU's broader objective of transitioning away from the traditional donor-recipient model towards a more collaborative partnership paradigm. By supporting initiatives that are already priorities for the local government, the EU significantly mitigates the risks of misperceptions or resistance from the partner country. This strategy fosters a sense of ownership and responsibility within the partner country and enhances the likelihood of successful and sustainable outcomes. Indeed, this approach is very much in line with the premises of the new instrument, which maintains a deep rhetorical commitment to local ownership. However, this is not the norm, as is evident from the mere comparison between the two countries. It can be employed only in favourable contexts with sufficient state capacity, mutual trust and significant governmental cooperation.

Apart from increased flexibility in funding management, NDICI's transformative impact on country-specific implementation challenges remains limited. The instrument advocates for greater participation of local CSOs in the programming and implementation phases. However, it falls short of ensuring consistent and high-quality communication with these organisations regarding the progression of actions, results achieved, and other critical updates, undermining the EU's commitment to transparency and inclusiveness (CONCORD, 2023). Similarly, NDICI promotes the empowerment of EU delegations in third countries, resulting in a more proactive role in diplomacy and advocacy to align EU interests with those of the partner countries more effectively and to foster mutual understanding and cooperation on shared challenges. However, the potential benefits of this commitment are long-term and not forcefully ascribable to the instrument itself. Moreover, the positive import of increased involvement of financial institutions and the private sector, as NDICI advocates, could skew benefits away from areas critical for building resilience and sustainable development but lack obvious investment appeal, such as democratic transition and human rights promotion (Gavas & Pleeck, 2021).

Perhaps more importantly, NDICI does not signify a fundamental shift in the underlying rationale of EU development policies. It represents another EU-centred structural reform that improves the framework for policy creation and management at the EU level without substantially altering the foundational paradigm (Saviolo, 2023). While the EU continues to promote the development of resilient and high-capacity local administrations, democratic institutions, and equitable partnerships, its track record in actualising these goals remains inconsistent. The situation in Egypt exemplifies how EU commitments to these foundational aspects of development cooperation can be compromised by overriding geopolitical interests. When energy, migration or security-related issues conflict with the stated development goals, the EU's dedication often wavers, leading to an approach favouring modest achievements over the pursuit of profound transformative change (Berger, 2022).

In essence, the analysis of the structure and implementation mechanisms of NDICI illustrate a broader issue within EU development policy. While newly introduced frameworks are well-suited to improve policy management at the EU level, they do not fundamentally alter the dynamics that contribute to the efficacy gap on the ground. Indeed, the European Union's lack of strategic autonomy substantially constrains its ability to effectuate the transformative changes it ostensibly aims to achieve within this pivotal region, thereby undermining the perceived effectiveness of its development initiatives. More specifically, the absence of a unified strategic posture, as well as its reliance on strategic partnerships for security, migration and energy matters, hamper the EU's efforts to implement policies that require a strong and autonomous stance. As a result, despite substantial investments and well-intentioned programs, the EU often struggles to realise its ambitious objectives, leading to a discrepancy between expected and actual outcomes. This efficacy gap not only diminishes the impact of its development efforts but also affects the EU's credibility as a global actor committed to promoting stability, democracy, and sustainable development.

Therefore, in line with the "principled pragmatism" approach articulated in the EU Global Strategy, it becomes imperative for the Union to increase its awareness of the objective limitations of its leverage in countries like Egypt and Jordan. By acknowledging these limitations, the EU can recalibrate its strategies to set more attainable and context-specific goals. Ultimately, such a strategy not only improves the efficacy of EU policies but also strengthens partnerships with countries in the Southern Neighbourhood, contributing to greater stability and mutual prosperity in the long term.

Conclusion

The Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument – Global Europe marks a significant evolution in the European Union's strategy to improve its development cooperation efforts and enhance its international influence. As the financial instrument of the new European strategy, NDICI aims to improve the effectiveness of development policies by reorganising the financial architecture and simplifying the procedures for aid provision. This preliminary examination of the instrument's potential to effectively address long-standing implementation challenges in EU development policy toward the Southern Neighbourhood has highlighted both its strengths and persistent shortcomings. Specifically, this contribution focused on the instrument's ability to bridge the gap between set objectives and concrete outcomes of development policies, i.e. the efficacy gap. To this end, it evaluated the instrument's design and mechanisms, considering the complex evolution of EU relations with these countries, persistent EU-level coordination issues and the intricate socio-political dynamics of the target region, which significantly influence the implementation of EU policies.

This analysis ultimately concludes that NDICI-Global Europe does have the potential to contribute to bridging the gap between objectives and outcomes in EU development policies, improving internal coordination, enhancing policy coherence and allowing for greater adaptability to local conditions. However, the instrument is far more suited to address EU-level deficiencies rather than to provide valuable solutions to the on-the-ground implementation component of the efficacy gap. This is because the novelties proposed by NDICI-GE are mostly related to the architecture of EU development cooperation rather than to the underlying paradigm guiding it. Therefore, the instrument's contribution to overcoming implementation hurdles is limited to its renewed commitment to symmetrical partnerships and increased flexibility in funding management and employment.

Indeed, with its consolidated budget and streamlined approach, NDICI is well-suited for eliminating redundancies and simplifying budgeting and planning. Its hierarchical thee-pillar structure ensures that funds can be rapidly deployed where most needed, therefore improving the EU's responsiveness to global and regional challenges. Beyond the clear advantages of consolidating eleven financing instruments, NDICI's structure introduces significant enhancements in both coordination and coherence. These span from the increased democratic scrutiny and interinstitutional coordination given by the European Parliament's involvement in regular consultations with the

Commission to the enhanced policy coherence ensured by cross-cutting priorities and the universal principles permeating the instrument's rationale. Notably, NDICI reinvigorates the EU commitment to coordination with Member States through the inclusion of Team Europe Initiatives in regional and country-specific MIPs, and it promotes increased involvement of the private and banking sectors, contributing to reducing the capability-expectations gap related to underfunding issues. Crucially, NDICI introduces a whole set of funding management options, which allow for increased adaptability to local conditions.

While these structural innovations represent significant strides toward a more unified and strategic EU external policy, the realities on the ground in regions like the Southern Neighbourhood complicate this ideal. The intricate socio-political landscapes of these areas require tailored approaches that NDICI sometimes struggles to accommodate fully. Despite aiming for better alignment of EU priorities with local needs through a participatory planning process, the reality of implementing these well-intentioned policies often falls short of expectations, so much so that the efficacy gap remains a significant challenge. Indeed, several local factors affect the outcome of EU policies in regions like Egypt and Jordan, which have been subject to careful observation. These factors include the capacity levels of local civil society organisations (CSOs), the governance structures of the partner countries, and the local perceptions of EU intentions. The deep-seated mistrust and hesitancy to cooperate in areas where the colonial past is a sensitive subject are exacerbated by restrictive local laws and the authoritarian nature of most regimes. The latter often exert tight control over local CSOs, compromising their independence and reliability. Such dynamics make it challenging for the EU to rely on these organisations to implement its programs effectively, therefore undermining their full involvement.

Indeed, the implementation of NDICI-GE itself reveals that while there is an acknowledgement of the need for local ownership and capacity building, actual practices often fall short. The capacity-building efforts, although well-intentioned, tend to yield only temporary improvements in CSOs' abilities to manage projects and funds, while long-term improvements in local administrative capabilities remain elusive. Moreover, NDICI-GE's attempts to improve the tailoring of its policy development processes by incorporating third countries more thoroughly in the programming phase signify a positive shift towards more integrated planning. However, the slow process from design to actual implementation, often taking at least two years, limits the instrument's ability to respond agilely to the dynamic needs of the Southern Neighbourhood.

Thus, while NDICI-GE presents a significant advancement in terms of inter-institutional coordination and policy coherence, these improvements alone are insufficient to bridge the gap

between objectives and outcomes. Indeed, the latter highly depends on implementation challenges that NDICI is not entirely fit to address. The persistence of these challenges underscores the necessity for a more profound reevaluation of the EU's strategies, particularly in ensuring that the rhetoric surrounding resilience-building and local ownership translates into meaningful and impactful actions on the ground. Hence, as we look to the future, realising NDICI's full potential hinges on the EU's willingness to embrace profound structural and procedural changes. These would have to start with increased dialogue and high-quality communication, which have proved to be the most powerful tools in the EU's hands. Fostering stronger partnerships with local governments and civil society organisations also implies significant commitments to knowledge sharing, capacity building, and technical support to empower local entities to lead their development agendas effectively. Moreover, comprehensive and ongoing evaluations must be implemented to dynamically adjust strategies in real-time, ensuring they remain aligned with both local needs and broader geopolitical objectives.

However, beyond structural adjustments, actual effectiveness will require reevaluating how the EU conceptualises and engages with its external environment. Given the lack of EU strategic autonomy and the existing interdependencies with the Southern Neighbourhood, this would imply a recalibration of the scope of EU actions to the objective limitations of its leverage, embracing a more concrete endorsement of the "principled pragmatism" paradigm.

Ultimately, this ongoing journey demands unwavering commitment and bold creativity to devise more innovative and effective development policies that transform into tangible realities.

Bibliography

- Al-Araby Al-Jadeed (2016), "Europe's convenient relationship with Egypt", Gresh A., 12 July.
- Arieff, A., & Humud, C. E. (2011). *Political transition in Tunisia* (Vol. 15). Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.
- Ashoff, G. (2005). Enhancing policy coherence for development: Justification, recognition and approaches to achievement (No. 11). Studies.
- Badarin, E., & Wildeman, J. (2021). Aid, security and fortress Europe: EU development aid in the Middle East and North Africa. In Routledge Handbook of EU–Middle East Relations (pp. 401-410). Routledge.
- Balfour, R., & Rotta, A. (2005). Beyond enlargement. The European neighbourhood policy and its tools. *The International Spectator*, 40(1), 7-20.
- Berger, A. (2022). Development as non-migration? Examining normative and policy coherence in EU external action on migration and development. *Development Policy Review*, 40(S1), e12589. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12589
- Bergh, S. I. (2017). *The politics of development in Morocco: Local governance and participation in North Africa*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Bergmann, J., Delputte, S., Keijzer, N., & Verschaeve, J. (2019) The Evolution of the EU's Development Policy: Turning Full Circle. *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 24(Issue 4), 533–554. https://doi.org/10.54648/EERR2019041
- Bicchi, F. (2006). 'Our size fits all': Normative Power Europe and the Mediterranean. *Journal of European public policy*, *13*(2), 286-303.
- Bicchi, F. (2009) 'Democracy assistance in the Mediterranean: An overview', *Mediterranean Politics*, 14(1), pp. 61-78.
- Bicchi, F. (2014). Europe and the Arab Uprisings: The Irrelevant Power?. In *The New Middle East. Protest* and Revolution in the Arab World. Cambridge University Press.

- Bilal, S. (2019). Leveraging the next EU budget for sustainable development finance: The European Fund for Sustainable Development Plus (EFSD+). ECDPM Discussion Paper 243. Maastricht: ECDPM. 18 February 2019.
- Bilal, S., Medinilla, A., Karkare, P., Tondel, F., Ahairwe, P. E. and Sherriff, A. (2021). The EU's Global Gateway: Groundbreaking initiative or smart rebranding? ECDPM Commentary. Maastricht: ECDPM.
- Bodenstein, T., & Furness, M. (2023). European aid to the MENA region after the Arab uprisings: A window of opportunity missed (No. 2023/48). WIDER Working Paper.
- Bodenstein, T., Faust, J., & Furness, M. (2017). European Union Development Policy: Collective Action in Times of Global Transformation and Domestic Crisis. *Development Policy Review*, *35*(4), 441–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12189
- Börzel, T. A., & Risse, T. (2010). Governance without a state: Can it work?. *Regulation & governance*, 4(2), 113-134.
- Brand, A., Furness, M., & Keijzer, N. (2021). Promoting policy coherence within the 2030 Agenda framework: Externalities, trade-offs and politics. *Politics and Governance*, 9(1), 108-118.
- Brie, M. (2020). The Reform of the EU Neighbourhood Policies and Instruments in the Post-2020 Period. Analele Universității din Oradea. Relații Internationale și Studii Europene (RISE), 12(12), 129-143.
- Bremberg, N. (2020). From "partnership" to "principled pragmatism": tracing the discursive practices of the High Representatives in the EU's relations with the Southern Mediterranean. *European security*, 29(3), 359-375.
- Burni, A., Erforth, B., Friesen, I., Hackenesch, C., Hoegl, M., & Keijzer, N. (2022). Who Called Team Europe? The European Union's Development Policy Response During the First Wave of COVID-19. *The European Journal of Development Research*, *34*(1), 524–539. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41287-021-00428-7
- Burni, A., Erforth, B., & Keijzer, N. (2021). Global Europe? The new EU external action instrument and the European Parliament. *Global Affairs*, 7(4), 471–485. https://doi.org/10.1080/23340460.2021.1993081

- Cammett, M. (2014). Sectarian Politics and Social Welfare: Non-state Provision in Lebanon. In *The Politics of Non-state Social Welfare* (pp. 137-). Cornell University Press.
- Carbone, M. (2008). Introduction: The new season of EU development policy. Perspectives on European Politics and Society, 9(2), 111-113.
- Carbone, M. (2013). International development and the European Union's external policies: Changing contexts, problematic nexuses, contested partnerships. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 26(3), 483–496. https://doi.org/10.1080/09557571.2013.820073
- Carbone, M., & Keijzer, N. (2016). The European Union and policy coherence for development: Reforms, results, resistance. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 28, 30-43.
- Chaban, N., & Elgström, O. (2021). Politicization of EU Development Policy: The Role of EU External Perceptions (Case of Ukraine). *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, *59*(1), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcms.13137
- CoEU. (2021). Press release: Council adopts conclusions on enhancing the European financial architecture for development. Brussels, The Council of the European Union. 14 June 2021.
- Commission, (2021). Press release: European Commission welcomes the endorsement of the new €79.5 billion NDICI-Global Europe instrument to support EU's external action. The European Commission. 19 March 2021.
- Commission, (2018). Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL establishing the Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/RO/TXT/?uri= CELEX:52018PC0460.
- Commission (2021). Speech by Commissioner Urpilainen at the First NDICI-Global Europe Geopolitical Dialogue with the European Parliament. Brussels, European Commission. 15 June 2021.
- CONCORD. (2023). WHO HOLDS THE LION'S SHARE? A closer look at Global Europe Funds for CSOs. In *CONCORD*.
- Council of the European Union. (CoEU). (2022). Official Development Assistance: The EU and its Member States remain the biggest global provider consilium. Consilium. https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/07/18/official-development-assistance-the-eu-and-its-member-states-remain-the-biggest-global-provider/

- Council of the European Union. (CoEU). (2024). REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL on the evaluation of the European Union's External Financing Instruments for the 2014 2020 and 2021 2027 Multiannual Financial Frameworks. https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-9989-2024-INIT/en/pdf
- Damro, C. (2012). Market power europe. *Journal of European public policy*, 19(5), 682-699.
- Dandashly, A. (2020). EU democracy promotion and the dominance of the security–stability nexus. In *The EU in the Mediterranean after the Arab Uprisings* (pp. 62-82). Routledge.
- Delkáder-Palacios, A. (2019). Securitization, migration-related conditionality in the European Union Official Development Assistance: REEDES (Red Española de Estudios del Desarrollo) Secondary Award for Young Researchers 2018. Revista Iberoamericana de Estudios de Desarrollo = Iberoamerican Journal of Development Studies, 8(2), 172–201. https://doi.org/10.26754/ojs_ried/ijds.403
- Delputte, S., & Orbie, J. (2020). Paradigm Shift or Reinventing the Wheel? Towards a Research Agenda on Change and Continuity in EU Development Policy. *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, *16*(2), 233–255. https://doi.org/10.30950/jcer.v16i2.1084
- Del Sarto R. A. and Schumacher T. (2005), "From EMP to ENP: What's at Stake with the European Neighbourhood Policy towards the Southern Mediterranean?", *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 10, pp. 17-38.
- Del Sarto, R. A. (2021). *Borderlands: Europe and the Mediterranean Middle East*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Del Sarto, R. A. (2016). Normative empire Europe: The European Union, its borderlands, and the 'Arab spring'. *JCMS: journal of common market studies*, 54(2), 215-232.
- Di Ciommo, M. & Jones, A. (2019). A necessary shake-up: EU programming for international cooperation. ECDPM Discussion Paper 263. Maastricht: ECDPM.
- Di Ciommo, M. (2021). A Different Accent or a Whole New Language? EU Development Policy after COVID-19. Report Österreichische Entwicklungspolitik—COVID-19 and the Global South—Perspectives and Challenges, www. ofse. at.
- Di Ciommo, M. & Sergejeff, K. (2021). Getting up to speed: The EU and the development in transition agenda. ECDPM Discussion Paper 302. Maastricht: ECDPM.

- Durac, V., & Cavatorta, F. (2022). Politics and governance in the Middle East. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- EC. n.d. Global Gateway. Brussels, European Commission.
- EEAS. n.d. Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy. https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/eugs-review-web-0.pdf
- EEAS. n.d Multi-Annual Indicative Programme European Union Egypt 2021-2027. https://neighbourhood-enlargement.ec.europa.eu/document/download/ea5cfab2-c4c8-4519-b0ec-154baed5fld4 en
- Engerman, S. L., & Sokoloff, K. L. (2008). Debating the role of institutions in political and economic development: Theory, history, and findings. *Annual Review of Political Science*, *11*(1), 119–135. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.11.120406.135217
- EP and CoEU. Regulation (EU) 2021/947 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 June 2021 establishing the Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument Global Europe, amending and repealing Decision No 466/2014/EU and repealing Regulation (EU) 2017/1601 and Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 480/2009. Brussels, The European Parliament and The Council of the European Council. 9 June 2021.
- EUR-lex. (2007). The European consensus on development: EUR-lex. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/EN/legal-content/summary/the-european-consensus-on-development.html#:~:text=On%2020%20December%202005%20the,Member%20States%20will%20each%20implement
- EUR-lex (2017). REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL Mid-term review report of the External Financing Instruments. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52017DC0720
- EuroMed Rights (2016), "EU-Egypt Bilateral Relations: What Scope for Human Rights Advocacy?", Michou H., Retrieved from https://euromedrights.org/wp content/uploads/2016/10/EuroMed-Rights-EU-Egypt-report-external-EN.pdf..
- European Commission and the High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy (2017), Report on EU-Egypt relations in the framework of the revised ENP, Brussels, 13 July, SWD(2017) 271 final.

- European Court of Auditors (ECA). (2023). *Programming the Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument Global Europe* [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.eca.europa.eu/ECAPublications/SR-2023-14/SR-2023-14 EN.pdf
- European Investment Bank [EIB] (2018), "La BEI signe une convention de financement de 375 millions d'EUR avec la NBE pour soutenir les PME en Égypte", 27 July, Retrieved from http://www.eib.org/fr/infocentre/press/releases/all/2018/2018-208-eib-signs-eur-375-million-financing-agreement-with-nbe-to-support-smes-in-egypt.
- European Parliament (2006), Motion for a Resolution on: Egypt: the case of Aymar Nour, Brussels, 4 April.
- European Parliament (2016), Resolution on Egypt, notably the case of Giulio Regeni, Brussels, 9 March.
- European Union Global Strategy [EUGS] (2016), Shared vision, common action: A stronger Europe. A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy, Brussels.
- Fioramonti, L., & Poletti, A. (2008). Facing the giant: Southern perspectives on the European Union. *Third World Quarterly*, 29(1), 167-180. Fukuda-Parr, S. & Desmond McNeill (2019). 'Knowledge and Politics in Setting and Measuring the SDGs: Introduction to Special Issue'. *Global Policy* 10(S1): 5–15.
- Furness, M. (2012). The Lisbon treaty, the European external action service and the reshaping of EU development policy. In The European Union and Global Development: An 'Enlightened Superpower'in the Making? (pp. 74-93). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Furness, M., Ghica, L. A., Lightfoot, S., & Szent-Iványi, B. (2020). EU development policy: evolving as an instrument of foreign policy and as an expression of solidarity. Journal of Contemporary European Research, 16(2).
- Gavas, M. (2012). Reviewing the evidence: How well does the European Development Fund perform? *Overseas Development Institute*.
- Gavas, M., & Pleeck, S. (2021). Incentivising Investment in Human Capital through the European Fund for Sustainable Development. *Center for Global development*, 5.
- Gavas, M., & Pleeck, S. (2021). (rep.). Redesigning Global Europe: The EU's Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument. Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/blog/redesigning-global-europe-eus-neighbourhood-development-and-international-cooperation.

- Hammami, R. (2000). Palestinian NGOs since Oslo: From NGO politics to social movements?. *Middle East Report*, (214), 16-48.
- Hauck, V. (2020). How the EU can step up its support to conflict prevention and peacebuilding. ECDPM Commentary. Maastricht: ECDPM. 7 December 2020.
- Herceg-Kolman, N., & Bandov, G. (2022). Evolution of the EU development policy—From altruism to the interest instrumentalism and beyond. *Medjunarodni Problemi*, 74(3), 433–453. https://doi.org/10.2298/MEDJP2203433H
- Hill, C., (1993) 'The Capability-Expectations Gap, or Conceptualising Europe's Foreign Policy', Journal of Common Market Studies, 31 (3)
- Hilpold, P. (2017). The 'Politicization' of the EU Development Policy. Trade, Law & Development, IX(2).
- Hodson, D., & Howarth, D. (2023). From the Wieser report to Team Europe: Explaining the 'battle of the banks' in development finance. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2023.2221301
- Holden, P. G. (2020). Irreconcilable Tensions? The EU's Development Policy in an Era of Global Illiberalism. *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, 16(2), 101–119. https://doi.org/10.30950/jcer.v16i2.1073
- Hollis, R. (2012). No friend of democratization: Europe's role in the genesis of the 'Arab Spring'. *International affairs*, 88(1), 81-94.
- Howe, P. (2019). The triple nexus: A potential approach to supporting the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals?. *World Development*, 124, 104629.
- Human Rights Watch [HRW] (2014), "All According to Plan. The Rab'a Massacre and Mass Killings of Protesters in Egypt", 12 August, Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/report/2014/08/12/all-according-plan/raba-massacre-and-mass-killings-protesters-egypt.
- Hurt, S. R. (2010). Understanding EU Development Policy: history, global context and self-interest?. Third World Quarterly, 31(1), 159-168.
- Jonasson, A. K., & Mezagopian, M. (2017). The EU and Jordan: Aligning Discourse and Practice on Democracy Promotion?. *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 22(4).

- Jones, A., Di Ciommo, M., Sayós Monràs, M., Sherriff, A. and Bossuyt, J. (2018a). Aiming high or falling short? A brief analysis of the proposed future EU budget for external action. ECDPM Briefing Note 104. Maastricht: ECDPM. 3 September 2018.
- Jones, A., De Groof, E. and Kahiluoto, J. (2018b). Governing a new broad instrument for EU external action: The ins and outs of the institutional power struggle. ECDPM Briefing Note 107. Maastricht: ECDPM. 3 December 2018.
- Jones, A. and Keijzer, N. (2021). Programming the NDICI in times of COVID-19: Five takeaways from a recent webinar. ETTG, ECDPM and DIE. 1 March 2021.
- Jones, A. and Teevan, C. (2021). Team Europe: Up to the challenge? ECDPM Briefing Note 128. Maastricht. ECDPM. 25 January 2021.
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2010). The worldwide governance indicators: Methodology and analytical issues. *World Bank policy research working paper*, (5430).
- Keijzer, N. (2020). Beyond 'donor-recipient relations'? A historical-institutionalist perspective on recent efforts to modernise EU partnerships with third countries. *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.30950/jcer.v16i3.1076
- Kugiel, P. (2020). 'Towards a Functional Division of Labour in EU development cooperation post-2020'. *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, 16(2) 163-181.
- Lewis, D. (2014). Non-Governmental Organizations, Management and Development (3rd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203591185
- Menendez I. and Youngs R. (2006), "The Euro-Mediterranean Partnership Turns Ten: Democracy's Halting Advance?", *IPRI Instituto Portugues de Relações Internacionais*, Retrieved from http://www.ipri.pt/artigos/artigo.php?ida=109.
- Mouna, K. (2018). The Role of Civil Society in Morocco: Towards Democracy or Autocracy? MEDRESET Papers, 13.
- Niemann, A., & Bretherton, C. (2013). EU external policy at the crossroads: The challenge of actorness and effectiveness. *International relations*, 27(3), 261-275.

- Nilsson, M., Zamparutti, T., Petersen, J. E., Nykvist, B., Rudberg, P., & McGuinn, J. (2012). Understanding policy coherence: analytical framework and examples of sector–environment policy interactions in the EU. Environmental policy and governance, 22(6), 395-423.
- OECD. (2005). The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra ... The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). https://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf
- Orbie, J., Bougrea, A., & Vermeiren, M. (2022). The New European Financial Architecture for Development: Change or Continuity? *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 27(Issue 3), 337–360. https://doi.org/10.54648/EERR2022026
- Pace, M. (2007) 'Norm shifting from EMP to ENP: The EU as a norm entrepreneur in the South?'. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 20(4), pp. 659-675.
- Pace, M. (2009a). 'Paradoxes and Contradictions in EU Democracy Promotion in the Mediterranean: The Limits of EU Normative Power'. Democratization, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 39–58.
- Pace, M. (2009b). "The Construction of EU Normative Power." Journal of Common Market Studies.
- Perez, A., & Olivie, I. (2020). The Impact of Brexit on Aid. *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, 16(2), 200–216. https://doi.org/10.30950/jcer.v16i2.1077
- Petrova, I., & Delcour, L. (2019). From principle to practice? The resilience–local ownership nexus in the EU Eastern Partnership policy. *Contemporary Security Policy*, 41(2), 336–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2019.1678280
- Picciotto, R. (2005). The evaluation of policy coherence for development. Evaluation, 11(3), 311-330.
- Platforma. 2021. EU dedicates €500 million for towns and regions under NDICI. Brussels, Platforma. 20 January 2021.
- Price, S. (2019). The Impact of Brexit on EU Development Policy. *Politics and Governance*, 7(3), 72–82. https://doi.org/10.17645/pag.v7i3.2149
- Rizzi, A., & Varvelli, A. (2022). Opening the Global Gateway: Why the Eu Should Invest More in the Southern Neighbourhood. European Council on Foreign Relations.

- Roccu, R., & Voltolini, B. (2018). Framing and reframing the EU's engagement with the Mediterranean: Examining the security-stability nexus before and after the Arab uprisings. *Mediterranean Politics*, 23(1), 1-22.
- Sabourin, A., & Jones, A. (2023). More than targets: How the EU promotes democracy, human rights and gender equality through Global Europe and beyond. ECDPM Discussion Paper 337. Maastricht: ECDPM.
- Sabourin, A., Sergejeff, K., & Jones, A. (2023). The new EU development policy shifts in practice: Views from Kenya and Cameroon.
- Saviolo, L. (2023). Patterns of EU aid and development policy: The EU security-stability nexus within the Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument.
- Schmidt, S. (2012). Soft Power or Neo-colonialist power?-African perceptions of the EU. *Rev. Eur. Stud.*, 4, 100.
- Schneckener U (2010) State-building or New Modes of Governance? The Effects of International Involvement in Areas of Limited Statehood. In: Risse T (ed.) Governance Without a State? Policies and Politics in Areas of Limited Statehood. Columbia University Press, New York, NY
- Schumacher T. (2015), "Uncertainty at the EU's borders: narratives of EU external relations in the revised European Neighbourhood Policy towards the southern borderlands", European Security, 24, 3, pp. 381-401.
- Schumacher T. (2016), "Back to the Future: The 'New' ENP towards the Southern Neighbourhood and the End of Ambition", *College of Europe Policy Brief*, 1,16, pp.1-4.
- Seeberg, P. (2016). Jordan, the European neighbourhood policy, and commonalities of interest: Building a security partnership rather than a security community. *External governance as security community building: The limits and potential of the European Neighbourhood Policy*, 163-186.
- Seeberg, P., & Zardo, F. (2023). From Mobility Partnerships to Migration Compacts: security implications of EU-Jordan relations and the informalization of migration governance. In *The Spiralling of the Securitisation of Migration in the European Union* (pp. 19-36). Routledge.
- Sergejeff, K., Domingo, E., & Jones, A. (2022). Catching up with Global Europe.

- Silander, D., & Nilsson, M. (2014). Protecting and Promoting Europe: The ENP and the Security-Democracy Nexus in Partner States. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, 9(4), 460–477. https://doi.org/10.1080/19361610.2014.942824
- Szynol, M. (2020). The Impact of Brexit on the EU Development Policy: Selected Political Issues. *TalTech Journal of European Studies*, 10(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1515/bjes-2020-0001
- Thier, J. Alexander & Douglas Alexander (2019). 'How to Save Foreign Aid in the Age of Populism' *Foreign Policy* 13 August 2019. Online: https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/08/13/how-to-save-foreign-aid-in-the-age-of-populism-usaid-dfid/.
- Thomas, D. C. (2012). Still punching below its weight? Coherence and effectiveness in European Union foreign policy. *JCMS: journal of common market studies*, 50(3), 457-474.
- Toje, A. (2008). The consensus—expectations gap: explaining Europe's ineffective foreign policy. Security dialogue, 39(1), 121-141.
- United Nations (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20
 Development%20web.pdf
- Voltolini, B., & Colombo, S. (2020). The EU and Islamist parties in Tunisia and Egypt after the Arab uprisings: A story of selective engagement. In *The EU in the Mediterranean after the Arab Uprisings* (pp. 83-102). Routledge.
- Williams, M. J. (2021). Beyond state capacity: bureaucratic performance, policy implementation and reform. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, 17(2), 339-357.
- Youngs, R. (2002) The European Union and the promotion of democracy: Europe's Mediterranean and Asian policies. London: Oxford University Press.
- Youngs, R., & Zihnioğlu, Ö. (2021). EU Aid Policy in the Middle East and North Africa: Politicization and its Limits. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 59(1), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcms.13136

Appendix I

Interview 1: DG NEAR official from Egypt's desk

- 1. What's the most effective tool for democratic development? How do you measure success? What are the indicators?
- 2. How would you evaluate the overall EU commitment to the promotion of democracy? How instrumental is it?
- 3. What are the main challenges to democratic development in the region? Are there any specificities for Egypt?
- 4. Do you see the NDICI as a turning point in EU development policies in terms of coherence and effectiveness? In what way this is different from the past?
- 5. Do you think the instrument can or cannot enchain a democratic change? Is it fit for purpose?
- 6. What are the (strengths) and weaknesses of the instrument?
- 7. How does the governance of the instrument (contested) influence the efficacy gap? Who does what?
- 8. What do you think will be the main outcomes (achievements) of the new financial framework in the Southern Neighbourhood? And in Egypt?
- 9. Does the geographisation logic really ensure a more tailored approach? To the local situations (including state capacity, quality of governance, human rights respect)
- 10. Is the accolated budget enough for the targets? Are these realistic?
- 11. What do you think about the "policy first" approach? Will this make EU-Neighbourhood relations more or less asymmetrical?
- 12. Who decided the national priorities to be brought to the negotiation table? Do you think they reflect what people want?
- 13. Which are the main local stakeholders involved? Have they been involved in both the joint programming and implementation phases?
- 14. How has the instrument been perceived locally? Is it true that EU delegations are more directly involved?
- 15. Which local factors influence the success of policies the most? (State capacity, infrastructure, political will, etc.)
- 16. How much of the efficacy gap is expected considering the complexity of democratic development, and how much of it is actually due to implementation problems, lack of funds, etc.?

Interview 2: DG NEAR official from the Good Governance and Security Team for the Southern Neighbourhood

- 1. In your opinion, what is the biggest obstacle to the success of European development policies?
- 2. Based on your experience, do you think the problem is more related to funding and resources or to how these are used?
- 3. In your view, do internal coordination problems or obstacles encountered in partner countries have a greater impact on the success of development policies?
- 4. What are the main obstacles to the implementation of European development policies in the Southern Neighbourhood countries?
- 5. How has the European Union's approach changed through NDICI?
- 6. What are the most significant improvements introduced by this instrument?
- 7. How does NDICI contribute to improving internal (inter-institutional) cooperation? Which institutions are involved in regional programs, and in what way?
- 8. How is the work divided between the Commission and the EEAS?
- 9. How are EU development policies coordinated with those of the Member States?
- 10. To what extent does the type of government/regime in Southern Neighbourhood countries influence the design of development policies, and how does this impact their implementation? Could you provide examples from different Neighbourhood countries?
- 11. Has shifting the EU's approach from imposing its policies to contributing to national strategies led to better results?
- 12. Have there already been any feedback from partner countries on the action plans from previous years or on the new approach?
- 13. When considering the characteristics of individual third countries, which aspect is given the most attention in designing the relevant development policies?
- 14. What are the key steps in the EU's efforts to bridge the efficacy gap in its development policy?
- 15. How has the EU improved in designing more tailored policies for partner countries?
- 16. In your opinion, how much does treating countries as partners rather than recipients by involving them in the action-planning process help bridge the gap between expectations and results?

Interview 3: Official from the EU delegation to Cairo

- 1. In your opinion, what is the biggest obstacle to the success of European development policies?
- 2. Based on your experience, is the problem more related to funds and resources or to how they are employed?
- 3. In your view, do internal coordination problems weigh more, or do the obstacles encountered in partner countries play a larger role in determining the success of development policies?
- 4. In your opinion, what have been the main steps in the EU's effort to bridge the efficacy gap in its development policy?
- 5. How has the EU improved in designing more tailored policies for partner countries?
- 6. How much does considering countries as partners rather than recipients and involving them in the action programming process contribute, in your opinion, to bridging the gap between expectations and results?
- 7. What are the main obstacles to the implementation of European development policies in the Southern Neighbourhood countries, particularly in Egypt?
- 8. How has the democratic situation in Egypt improved thanks to European policies? In your opinion, what is the most effective tool to contribute to the country's democratic development?
- 9. How has the EU's approach changed through NDICI?
- 10. What are the most significant improvements brought by the instrument?
- 11. How does NDICI contribute to improving internal (inter-institutional) coordination? Which institutions are involved and how?
- 12. Do you think there is enhanced coherence in the EU development policies following a renewed commitment to transparency and clearness?
- 13. How are the EU's development policies for Egypt coordinated with those of the Member States?
- 14. Considering Egypt's characteristics, which aspect is subject to greater changes when designing related development policies?
- 15. Which is the most suitable type of funding management for Egypt?
- 16. How does the closed space for CSOs influence these kinds of choices?

- 17. How has the instrument been perceived by the population?
- 18. Do you see any hope for the democratic development of the country?
- 19. How does the type of government/regime in the Southern Neighbourhood countries influence the design of development policies, and what impact does this have on their implementation?
- 20. What type of regime is there in Egypt, and how does it influence the success of European policies? (e.g., project approval, entry permits, poor promotion of the EU to civil society, etc.)
- 21. Has shifting the EU's approach from imposing its policies to contributing to national strategies led to better results?
- 22. Has the partner country already provided feedback on the action plans of past years or on the new approach?

Interview 4: DG NEAR official from Jordan's desk

- 1. What, in your opinion, is the greatest obstacle to the success of European development policies?
- 2. Based on your experience, do you believe the problem is more related to funding and resources or to how these are utilised?
- 3. In your view, do internal coordination problems carry more weight, or are the obstacles encountered in partner countries more decisive in determining the success of development policies?
- 4. What are the main obstacles to the implementation of European development policies in the Southern Neighbourhood countries? And specifically in Jordan?
- 5. How has the democratic situation in Jordan improved thanks to European policies? In your opinion, what is the most effective way/tool to contribute to the country's democratic development?
- 6. How has the European Union's approach changed through the NDICI?
- 7. What are the most significant improvements introduced by this instrument?
- 8. How does the NDICI contribute to improving internal (inter-institutional) cooperation? Which institutions are involved and how?
- 9. How are EU development policies for Jordan coordinated with those of the Member States?

- 10. To what extent does the type of government/regime in the Southern Neighbourhood countries influence the design of development policies, and what impact does this have on their implementation?
- 11. What type of regime is there in Jordan, and how does this influence the success of European policies? (e.g. project approval, entry permits into the country, poor "promotion" of the EU to civil society, etc.)
- 12. Has the shift in the EU's approach from imposing its policies to contributing to national strategies led to better outcomes?
- 13. Has the partner country already provided feedback on past years' action plans or the new approach?
- 14. When considering the characteristics of Jordan, which aspect receives the most attention when designing the relevant development policies?
- 15. What do you believe were the main steps in the EU's effort to close the efficacy gap in its development policy?
- 16. How has the EU improved in designing more tailored policies for partner countries?
- 17. To what extent do you believe that treating countries as partners rather than recipients, by involving them in the process of planning actions, contributes to closing the gap between expectations and results?